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2. MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 
  

Dear Partners, 

  

Your attention is drawn to the Report on the audited annual financial 
results of Connections Consult SA (hereinafter referred to as "the 
Issuer" or "the Group") and the unaudited annual financial results of the 
group of companies controlled by Connections Consult SA (hereinafter 
referred to as "the Connections Group" or "the Group") for the year 
2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We are now concluding the evaluation of the 2023 activity. We are in the last phase of the annual audit which will 
be completed in the week of 04.03-08.03 and we will submit to the vote of the General Meeting of Shareholders 
both the financial statements for 2023 and the Income and Expenditure Budget for 2024.  

2023 was a year of global turbulence. The world economy and the geopolitical status quo experienced various 
uncertainties that exposed major challenges to economic actors in many sectors. The indefinite continuation of the 
war in Ukraine, the escalation of global inflation, the conflict in Gaza, uncertain political contexts in many countries, 
the explosive growth of the artificial intelligence factor in technology and, by extension, in various economic sectors, 
are all elements that define an interesting 2023 to say the least.  

However, for Connections, 2023 was the best year ever and marked some pivotal moments for the way forward: 

− We exceeded the EUR 35 million turnover mark, exceeding by almost 3 times the estimates in the listing 
memorandum; 

− We have had the experience of initiating and successfully completing two very complex projects (8 million EUR 
and 10 million EUR approximately), with enormous impact for clients and society; 

− We have moved into an office space that, for the first time in the company's history, can rival that of any 
technology company in Romania, both in terms of location and facilities, as well as aesthetics; this means a lot 
for the employer branding component - we can more easily attract new colleagues and retain old ones; 

− We have taken steps in strengthening a partnership relationship with the company's employees, increasing 
operational efficiency and implementing a mutually beneficial hybrid work mechanism; 

− We have developed and strengthened our expertise as technology integrators and built new partnerships - there 
are surprises to be announced in 2024, but the effort to negotiate, evaluate and promote to partners was done 
in 2023; 

− Although we have seen a rapid increase in turnover and net profit, we have managed to keep revenues from 
foreign markets within reasonable limits; 

− We have launched, in the second part of 2023, the internal Stock Options Plan program; the majority 
shareholder and those who have captured private placement interests will not receive shares under this 
initiative. 

In the reporting period, the Group had a 200% increase in revenue compared to 2022, underpinned by revenue from 
the custom software development business unit. Gross profit increased by 163% , year-on-year, as did net profit. 
We have become an important technology player in the Romanian market, and the challenge for the next few years 
is to maintain the growth trend and consolidate the advantages created in 2023. We have a corporate governance 
far superior to the time of listing, processes and procedures that are slowly becoming mature and require a more 
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rigorous business conduct in the next 3-5 years. Operationally, the company is performing flawlessly, and this is one 
of the reasons why - financially and logistically - we have managed to sustain extremely vigorous growth in 2023.  

The main contributor to revenue and profit growth has been the software and integration division, which now 
contributes 73% of total group revenue, up from 36% in 2022. All group verticals recorded jumps of between 5-6% 
(BPO and ITO combined) and 10% and 549% (RPA, and software development respectively).  

The proposed revenue and expense budget for 2023 and the estimates in the AeRO listing memorandum were 
exceeded by a landslide, both in revenue (116%) and net and gross profit (102%). The employment plan was 
prudently re-evaluated in view of the market context and resulted in a stagnation in the number of employees and 
collaborators, with the mention that the replacement of staff who left the company was carried out with new 
employees with high competences and a much higher compatibility with the strategic plans of the next years.  

We continued to evaluate new acquisitions - we are working with 2 M&A companies - but the context of the M&A 
market, although still favourable after the steeply rising trend in 2019-2022, coupled with the global recession 
forecast, made us cautious about entering into advanced discussions with various target companies. We believe that 
valuations are still unrealistic and do not justify the investments requested by sellers at this time. We remain on 
alert for advantageous acquisition opportunities in areas such as cybersecurity, custom software development, AI 
and ERP system implementation.  

Internally, we focused on building a strategic framework at Connections level, linking the definition of the company's 
objectives for the next 3-5 years, their KPIs, their measurement and internal projects that will lead to the 
achievement of these objectives. Thus the implementation of the employee evaluation framework will be done after 
the completion of this goal setting and KPI tracking process and will also correlate with the SOP we launched in 
September 2023. We aim to come back to all stakeholders - employees and investors - with detailed and measurable 
objectives in the first part of 2024.  

We are building Connections over the next 3-5 years with the goal of consolidating a robust player in the technology 
services market, leveraging the integration of the tools the field offers us, using AI and Machine Learning and 
elevating ourselves beyond the level of a custom software developer to that of a sophisticated digital solutions 
provider. 

We have bet on the public sector, despite the troubled history of the last ten years of this sector, on the one hand 
out of the need to legitimize ourselves as a creator of added value - the public sector offers many opportunities in 
terms of permanent needs that must keep pace with the evolution of society - and for financial and strategic reasons 
- projects in public administration are really offering value and exposure to new technologies, far beyond what a 
company can access in the private area. We remain connected to private clients and pride ourselves on maintaining 
a significant share of this sector - 30% - even with this spectacular growth in turnover. We are trying to balance 
private-public directions and build a resilient company that can weather complicated times - recession (private 
customers are investing considerably less in digital infrastructure projects) vs. economic boom (European funds will 
decrease in intensity from 2027-2028) when the balance will tip significantly in favour of the non-governmental 
economic sectors.  

In 2024 we aim to take the first steps towards accessing the main market of the BVB, strengthening corporate 
governance, moving to IFRS reporting and planning for quarterly reporting next year. In addition, we are continuing 
our strategic development with the support of the Advisory Board created and we intend to expand the Board of 
Directors by two more seats to provide a more robust checks-and-balances mechanism at the management level of 
the company. We are also planning investor events that will increase investor confidence and transparency to the 
market and give a solid perspective to the collaboration with the most important stock exchange players.  

In closing - "last, but not least", as the English say - we want to reiterate an extremely important message that we 
have communicated internally and on social media on various occasions: the team makes the company strong, gives 
it the prospect of growth and takes it forward through the turbulent years we are experiencing. Many thanks to our 
colleagues who understood our strategy and were more involved than the job description requires, in the adventure 
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of creating the first regional technology services player in Romania. We have great timing and a great team, so we 
invite you all to enjoy the journey! 

Thank you!  

Bogdan Liviu Florea & Radu Marcu 

CONNECTIONS 

 

3. ABOUT CONNECTIONS - SHORT HISTORY 
 

Connections is a group of technology companies specializing in digital business transformation and includes several 
companies: Connections Consult SA, Connections Technologies SRL and Outsourcing Support Services SRL, Brusch 
Services SRL (from October 2021) as well as subsidiaries in Bulgaria and Serbia, UK and US. From 2022, Connections 
holds a minority stake (25%) in the ed-tech company 10Plus Future Education srl.   

CONNECTIONS strategy, monitoring indicators and business development are always approached in an integrated 
way, at the Group of Companies level. This has been the case since the technical listing on the BVB in 2021, continued 
in 2022 and 2023, and will continue in the future.   

Connections Consult S.A., the Group's flagship company, was established in 2005 in Bucharest - Romania, as a limited 
liability company, and on 02.06.2021 it became a joint-stock company.  

In 2007, Connections Technologies was founded, whose main activity was and still is to implement software 
development contracts, and in 2015 the company Outsourcing Support Services was founded with the aim of 
providing staff resource contracting services. 

The Group offers clients the opportunity to optimise and reshape their business processes and align with current 
digital trends, using technology tools to improve their KPIs and adapt to global market challenges. 

In 2016, Connections marked the first steps of regional expansion with the opening of offices in Belgrade - Serbia 
and Sofia - Bulgaria. At the same time, through sales representatives in Germany and Saudi Arabia, Connections 
Group expanded its customer portfolio targeting international markets. 

In 2022, the US and UK sub-subsidiaries joined the Group, as well as, as a minority investment, 10PLUS Future 
Education srl.  

2023 was a year of consolidation at Group level. No new companies appeared in the Group but existing ones 
harmonised their processes and built important synergies. 

 

 

 

 

3.1 Business lines - portfolio of products and services 
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In 2023 we have kept the same philosophy of grouping the business lines in the technology area, namely: Software 
Development, Outsourcing and RPA into a vertical called Digital Transformation, with four sub lines: Custom 
Software Development, Business Process Automation, Technology Consulting and Products. 

Digital transformation services have been delivered for both public and private sector clients on the one hand, and 
in terms of geographic footprint, for domestic and foreign markets such as US and DACH. 

The product portfolio included: 

1.     Contabot - virtual accountant  

2.     Id Scanner - tool for extracting data from ID cards 

Quick Merlin (2022) - tool for extracting data from financial balances 

4.     NexGen (2022) - low-code platform for accelerating software development 

5.     Apollo/OneApp - project management application for consultancy 

6.    Derived from the NexGen platform, we have built the document management and registry product - 
Regen. 

So, Connections' portfolio of services and products looked in 2023 as below: 

 

3.2 Connections Group structure 
  

 

3.3 Brief description of the activity 
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Connections assists clients on their journey to real digital transformation. The Business Process Management (BPO) 
division optimizes business processes, reshapes them and prepares them for digitization, the Digital Transformation 
vertical implements the tools effectively, while the Infrastructure Support business line provides the foundation for 
the new system to work. In this way, with an integrated approach, we have ready in the Group all the competencies 
needed for a successful migration from the traditional economy to Industry 5.0, the 5th industrial revolution, in 
which creativity will join hands with technology, ensuring a solid balance between the power of human innovation 
and the power of machine execution. In addition, in 2023 we took the first steps towards developing competences 
in Artificial Intelligence, and we expect the first relevant, lucrative results as part of concrete projects in the second 
part of 2024. 

 

4. ANALYSIS OF THE CONNECTIONS GROUP ACTIVITY IN 2023 
 

4.1 Analysis of the Group's financial results 
 

In 2023 - a landmark year in the Group's history - Connections achieved, in terms of financial performance, results 
above initial estimates, and, considerably better than in 2022.  

The tables below show a comparative analysis of the main income statement indicators for 2023 actual, 2023 
estimated and 2022.  

 

 Compiled Made 2023  Compiled Estimate 2023  Compiled Made 2022  

  (RON)  (RON)  (RON)  

Operating income  177,036,108.49  81,991,369.16  58,460,347.00  
Operating expenses  (163,280,332.90) (74,051,309.58) (53,581,806.00) 
Operational result  13,755,775.59  7,940,059.58  5,178,541.00  
Financial result  (79,020.25) (70,200.00) (65,357.00) 
Gross Profit  13,441,360.54  6,638,335.27  5,113,184.00  
Net Profit  11,243,498.56  5,574,335.27  4,288,488.00  

Gross Margin  7.59% 8.10% 8.75% 
 

 Results 2023 vs Estimated 2023  Results 2023 vs 2022  
Total income  116% 203% 
Operating expenses  120% 205%  
Operational result  73% 166%  
Gross Profit  102% 163%  
Net Profit  102% 162% 

INCOME 
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Total revenues increased by 203% compared to 2022. The main business line contributing to the growth is Software 
Development, which, both through significant contracts with state institutions and implementation projects with 
partners from the private sector, generated significant revenues. Compared to the estimate for 2023, there is a 
significant overrun of the initial estimated revenues by 116%. This result reflects exceptional performance and an 
adaptable and efficient approach to our operational and sales strategies. 

GROSS PROFIT 

Gross profit increased by a remarkable 163% compared to 2022, under the impact of software development projects 
and optimizations in the Service Delivery team. Compared to the estimated gross profit for 2023, it was 102% higher. 

GROSS MARGIN 

The gross margin of the entire group decreases slightly by 1% compared to 2022 when it was 9%, in the overall 
context of revenue expansion and profit growth being the result of competitive pricing strategies and sustained 
investments in improving product and service quality.  

The increase in revenue and gross profit reflects the expanding business activity and the high revenue generating 
capacity.   

We assess as positive the results published at group level and consider that the outperformance of the estimates in 
the Memorandum published prior to the listing denotes the company's ability to deliver increasingly better results 
to the market. 

4.2 Analysis of service lines  
 

THE COMPOSITION OF THE TURNOVER OF THE CONNECTIONS GROUP 

There has been a significant change in service percentages between 2022 and 2023. In 2023, the share of the 
Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) vertical decreased to 15%, while outsourced infrastructure support (ITO) 
services decreased to 5%. Private sector software development remained constant at 9%, but public sector software 
development increased to 64%. Robotic software automation (RPA) services fell to 2% and other services fell to 5%. 
There was a notable increase in public sector software development in 2023 compared to 2022. 
 
The change in percentages between 2022 and 2023 demonstrates a significant shift in the landscape of industries 
served by Connections. Specifically, there was a substantial increase in software development in the public sector, 
indicating a potential trend toward greater reliance on internal software development or government-led initiatives 
in the technology sector. In addition, the decrease in BPO and ITO percentages is due to a positive trend of 
diversification and innovation in the portfolio of services offered. Connections has been continuously oriented 
towards new strategies and models to increase efficiency and competitiveness. We see merit in this proactive 
approach to adapting to evolving market dynamics and leveraging emerging technologies to drive growth and create 
value. 
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ABSOLUTE VALUES 

The reassessment of the business strategy in 2023 has opened up new opportunities to optimise operations and 
has fostered collaboration across the Group's verticals. The comparison below reflects the Group's resilience and 
adaptability in response to market demands and challenges.   

Department 
Revenue 2023 

 Achieved 
 ( RON) 

Revenue 2022 
 Achieved 

 ( RON) 

Comparison 
 (RON) 

BPO                      27,278,967         27,805,356  -2% 

ITO                        8,170,012            5,819,744  40% 

SW Private                      15,717,813            7,127,611  121% 

SW Public                   112,993,078            5,931,104  1805% 

RPA                        3,883,218            3,531,024  10% 

OUT                        8,189,054            8,006,268  2% 

Others                            803,966               239,240  236% 

Total                   177,036,108         58,460,347  203% 
 

Below is the comparison with the initial estimates. These comparisons reflect the importance of periodically 
reassessing forecasts and adapting strategies to align with market trends and requirements. 

Department 
Revenue 2023 

 Achieved 
 ( RON) 

Revenue 2023 
 Estimates  

 ( RON) 

Comparison 
 (RON) 

BPO                   27,278,967                               23,668,856  15% 
ITO                     8,170,012                               17,446,021  -53% 

SW Private                   15,717,813                                 3,169,400  396% 
SW Public                112,993,078                               22,431,883  404% 

RPA                     3,883,218                                 4,294,658  -10% 
OUT                     8,189,054                               10,686,551  -23% 

Others                         803,966                                     294,000  173% 
Total                177,036,108                               81,991,369  203% 
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4.3 Presentation of the main project portfolio in relation to economic sectors  
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The two pie-chart comparisons show a significant increase of the public sector in the total revenue generated (from 
10% to 64%), and, consequently, a decrease in the share of FMCG. The challenge for the next few years is to maintain 
the 35-50 million EUR turnover zone and to balance the percentages of the industries in such a way that the risks 
are dispersed and manageable.  

 

4.4 Connections milestones in 2023 
 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS PLAN 

The AGM of 27.09.2023 decided to increase the SOP ceiling from 3% to 13%. The rationale for this is to create a legal 
basis for an SOP valid for the next 3-5 years, so that the shares resulting from the capital increase - as well as those 
that will/may be bought from the market - will be granted through employee options based on the results of the 
annual performance evaluation in the coming years, without the need for further steps to initiate a new SOP. 

 

CAPITAL INCREASE WITH BONUS SHARES 

In August 2023, Connections carried out a capital increase with bonus shares at a ratio of 0.1 fractional shares to 1 
share held. This process increased the company's liquidity and generated around 7% shares for the SOP initiative, 
by the majority shareholder transferring the right to the free shares to the company, thereby maintaining the 
percentage of all other shareholders and denying the company financial resources.  

 

RELOCATION HQ BUZESTI 71 
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We finally have a modern office, in the heart of Bucharest, with easy access to all means of transport and with an 
international level of ergonomics and comfort. We are proud that both colleagues and partners - customers, 
suppliers, etc. - can be part of the company's life in a top 21st century environment, comparable to any international 
technology company. This project was based on the need to offer top working conditions to colleagues, in an attempt 
to build their loyalty, to organize events with a focus on employer branding strategy and to lay the foundations for 
the hybrid format of collaboration with the company's employees.  

 

4.5 Business and sales strategy for 2024-2026 
 

We remain faithful to the strategic manifesto published last year and focus on the 4 essential pillars: 

Technology partnerships, digital marketing, consultative selling, public sector clients; 

In 2023 we have managed to complete partnerships with Oracle, Camunda, Form.io, Palo Alto, Cloudera and 
Grafana which will hopefully have a significant impact on revenues in the coming years. 

In the area of online promotion we started collaborating with a huge name in the PR and Digital Marketing 
industry - Grafitti. The results can already be seen in the online presence and in the company's relations with 
employees and external partners.  

The first relevant steps in consultative selling led to the acquisition of external customers in the Middle East area 
in the last weeks of 2023 and show us that the right path has been chosen. We will try to scale among existing 
private clients by applying this strategy of advisory support to clients. 

In the public sector we already have a strong presence and we are continuing our efforts to digitize Romania, 
providing citizens and the Romanian state with robust, functional, efficient systems that have a great impact on 
society.  

 

4.6 Operational indicators 
 

The EBITDA margin recorded in 2023 is 86% higher than estimated, through cost management and optimization of 
operational efficiency.  

As can be seen in the table below, realized EBITDA is 154% higher than in 2022.   

The positive performance is due to the implementation of effective cost management strategies and optimization 
of operational efficiency. Investment has been made in process optimisation leading to greater efficiency in the 
delivery of our products and services. The diversified portfolio as well as customers from various industries 
contributed to the increase in revenues and EBITDA. 

The evolution of the CAGR index over the last 4 years has been remarkable, reflecting a constant growth with an 
annual average of 30%. This result indicates a solid and sustainable financial performance, strengthening our 
position in the market and reflecting our constant efforts to achieve our growth targets. 
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4.7 Business perspective elements 
 
In 2024 we aim to complete the essential pillars of corporate governance: 
- interaction with investors should be taken to a higher level, preferably to VEKTOR 9 at least; 
- Finalising the framework for evaluating employees and linking company objectives to individual actions, in the OKR 
(Objectives & Key Results) version; 
- defining internal processes especially at the boundary between them - this will co-locate internal collaboration 
between teams; 
- redefining the strategic role of each company in the group; 
 
Obviously, we will continue our efforts in the area of business development, aiming to increase the percentage of 
external and private client revenues in order to have a dissipated downside risk in case of global events outside the 
group. 
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5. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET FOR 2024 
 

5.1 Overview of key indicators Budget Connections 2024 
 

As mentioned in the message to the market, the next 2-3 years look complicated from an economic point of view. 
We would be happy to be wrong, but based on our estimates, we have built a prudent budget that takes into account 
the company's current context, the existing pipeline and the coordinates that define the global and regional 
macroeconomic status quo. So, even if market expectations are, as is normal, focused on exceeding the 2023 figures, 
we are proposing a financial recipe superior to that estimated for 2023, understanding that the exceptional moment 
in which we find ourselves forces us to grow, but within realistic limits.  

For the year 2024, Connections Group's management is mainly focusing on the development of the software 
development and technology integration line.  Total estimated operating revenues for 2024 amount to 122 million 
lei, and the main contributors to the generation of these revenues are Service Delivery with estimated revenues of 
35 million lei with the BPO and ITO subdivisions, respectively Software Development + Outsourcing with estimated 
revenues of 87 million lei. 

The growth in Software Development division revenues is forecast as a result of two main directions:  

- Contracting large-scale projects in the public domain; 
- Development of the solution palette for specialized software support know-how within Brusch. 

 

To increase revenues in the Service Delivery division, Connections Group management is counting on innovative 
products that are important differentiators in relation to the market offer. 

 

The estimated EBITDA margin for 2024 is 9% and the estimated net margin is 7%. The net margin is conservatively 
estimated considering the overall growth in activity across all service lines, and the Group's management aims to 
exceed this indicator for 2024.  In absolute terms, net profit is estimated at RON 8.8 million. 

Regarding the Group's revenue evolution by main business lines (divisions), the table below shows a slightly more 
conservative 4-year compound average growth rate (2024 estimated) for the Service Delivery division (3%) while 
the Software Development division shows a more accelerated rate of 60% (public and private aggregate). However, 
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it should be noted that the Service Delivery division remains a pivotal area for Connections Group's business, 
generating the most significant revenues. 

EVOLUTION OF CAGR INCOME GROUP CONNECTIONS (5 
YEARS)         

 

REVENUE BY SERVICE LINES 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 CAGR 
SERVICE DELIVERY                            30,740                      31,468                    33,625                    35,447                    35,360  

3% 
Software Development Public                              3,122                        5,681                    13,059                  128,557                    69,978  

86% 
Private Software Development                              2,132                        2,668                      2,988                      3,883                      7,997  

30% 
Outsourcing                              5,093                        4,511                      8,006                      8,189                      9,006  

12% 
 

In terms of the Group's operating performance, for 2024 the operating margin is estimated at 9%. The estimate 
represents an incremental increase compared to 2023 (8%). This will allow us to achieve a net margin that is 
budgeted at 7%. In order to achieve this objective, management is focused on optimising costs and achieving 
synergies at the operational level that will contribute to streamlining the Group's activities and therefore to 
increasing financial performance. 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 CAGR 4 YEARS 
            

Total income 129,444,612              177,036,108             58,460,347             45,325,286  30% 
Operating expenses 118,042,155              163,280,333             53,281,806             41,864,217  30% 
            

Operational result 11,402,457               13,755,776              5,178,541              3,461,069  35% 

Operating margin 8.8% 8% 9% 8% 4% 
 

EBITDA margin will continue to be a key indicator for Connections Group management. It should be noted that the 
estimated EBITDA margin shows solid growth over 4 years (2024 estimated) of activity. The average compound 
growth rate for the 4 years amounts to 31%.  In absolute value, the 2024 EBITDA estimate is 11.4 million lei. 

EBIDTA EVOLUTION 4 YEARS 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 CAGR 4 YEARS 

EBIDTA 11,402,457 14,415,486 5,676,262 3,915,699 31% 

6. ANALYSIS OF INDIVIDUAL SITUATIONS: PERFORMANCE AND 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
6.1 Strengthening the financial position in 2023 
In the comparison between 2023 and 2022, tangible and intangible fixed assets maintained stable values, signalling 
consistency in assets. However, there has been a decrease in the value of financial assets attributed to the absence 
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of values recorded on the other credit line. The balance sheet shows a significant increase in the volume of bank 
accounts compared to the previous period. This increase reflects more efficient operations leading to higher cash 
generation and also indicates financial strength and the ability to capitalize on opportunities. 

  31 December 2022  31 December 2023 
A. FIXED ASSETS     
  I. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS                        1,196,167            1,076,063  
  II. TANGIBLE IMMOBILISATIONS                            219,846               323,962  
  III.  FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS                        1,711,595               987,295  
FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL                        3,127,608            2,387,320  
B. CURRENT ASSETS     
  I. STOCKS                                    315            1,413,974  
  II. CREATING                      17,456,100         15,940,288  
  III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS                                       -                           -  
  IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS                        4,553,405         36,412,774  
CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL                      22,009,820         53,767,036 
 

6.2 Explanation of debt changes 
The table below highlights the positive financial trends observed within the organization, indicating sound 
management practices and positioning it for continued growth and success. 

To a large extent, the changes in debt are due to the expansion and growth phase of the organisation, characterised 
by increasing short-term debt, strengthening liquidity and improving financial position. The significant increase in 
net current assets and total assets less current liabilities from 2022 to 2023 indicates improved flexibility and 
financial resilience. This suggests that the organization has strengthened its ability to meet its short-term obligations 
and pursue growth opportunities, improving its competitive position in the market. Although there has been an 
increase in short-term debt to meet operational requirements, the stability of long-term debt suggests that the 
organisation has maintained a prudent approach to long-term debt management. By carefully balancing short-term 
and long-term debt obligations, the organization demonstrates its commitment to maintaining long-term financial 
stability and sustainability. 

D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO 1 YEAR         8,805,434                    30,035,504  
E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES       13,253,100                    23,843,349  
F. TOTAL ASSETS MINUS CURRENT LIABILITIES       17,890,389                    27,516,843  
G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD 
OLDER THAN 1 YEAR             725,440                          707,547  
H. PROVIZIOANE             228,276                          707,486  
I. PREPAID INCOME         1,603,159                      1,028,948 
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6.3 Active Net e 
The significant increase in profit in 2023 compared to 2022 highlights the improved profitability of the organisation. 
This increase reflects the cumulative impact of retained earnings, operational efficiency and favourable financial 
management decisions. 

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES   

  I. CAPITAL                                 1,189,273                     1,308,200  
   1. Subscribed paid-in capital 

(ct.1012) 
                              1,189,273                     1,308,200  

   2. Unpaid subscribed capital 
(ct.1011)  

                                              -                                    -  

   3. The assets of the Regie (ct.1015)                                                -                                    -  
   4. Assets of national research and 
development institutes (ct.1018) 

                                              -                                    -  

   5. Other equity items (1031)                                                -                                    -  
  II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct.104)                             11,400,586                  11,400,586  

 III. REVALUATION RESERVES (ct.105)                                                -                                    -  
 IV. RESERVE                                     143,839                        261,640  

  Own shares (item 109)                        (88,308) 

  Gains related to equity instruments 
(item 141)  

  

Losses related to equity instruments 
(item 149) 

                                (325,001)                     (325,001) 

 V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS (A) 
SOLD C(ct.117) 

                              1,184,615                     1,512,739  

 VI. PROFIT                               2,444,327                  11,343,505  
  Distribution of profit (ct.129)                                  (122,216)                     (117,801) 

  CAPITAL - TOTAL                              15,915,423                  25,295,560 

 

 

 
 
 
THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ISSUER 
 
The issuer's financial performance in 2023 compared to 2022 reveals a number of significant developments and 
trends in various financial indicators. Through a comprehensive analysis of key indicators, this report provides 
insights into the organisation's financial health, operational efficiency and strategic direction. 
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The issuer has recorded a substantial increase in total assets from 2023 to 2022, indicating expansion and increased 
resource allocation. Despite this increase, stability is maintained in tangible and intangible fixed assets, reflecting 
prudent asset management practices. 

While short-term debt has increased considerably, potentially due to operational requirements, the organisation 
has shown improvement in the area of liquidity and financial flexibility. This is evident from the significant increase 
in net current assets and total assets less current liabilities. 

There was an increase in capital and reserves, driven by increases in paid-in capital and reserves. This increase 
underlines the increased financial stability and ability to cope with economic uncertainties. 

The issuer has achieved notable improvements in profitability, as evidenced by substantial increases in reported 
earnings in 2023 versus 2022. 

The organisation's commitment to reinvesting revenues in the business highlights a focus on sustainable growth. 
This strategic approach strengthens the issuer's financial resilience and positions it for continued long-term success. 

In conclusion, the issuer's financial performance reflects a positive trajectory characterised by growth, stability and 
strategic foresight. By leveraging operational efficiencies, prudent financial management practices and a focus on 
sustainable growth, the issuer is well positioned to capitalize on opportunities and create long-term value for 
stakeholders. 

7. RISKS 
The company analyses potential risks through its internal risk management system and tries to anticipate 
and neutralize them before any potential consequences manifest themselves. However, many of 
the risks to which the company is exposed are beyond its control. 
 

7.1 Risks related to the company's activity 
 
General economic risks - the Issuer's activities are sensitive to business cycles and economic conditions. 
general economic. Both the international financial crisis and the unstable economic environment can have effects 
significant negative impact on the Issuer's business, operating results and financial position. 
Socio-political turmoil can also impact the business. 
 
Risk associated with key people - the company carries out work that requires advanced level knowledge 
and specialization. The company depends on recruiting and retaining management and employees 
qualified. The medium and long-term profitability of the company depends, to a large extent, on its performance. 
qualified employees, staff and executive management, which are particularly important for its development. 
Tax and legal risk - the issuer is governed by Romanian legislation and, even if Romanian legislation has 
has been largely harmonised with EU legislation, further changes may occur, i.e. laws may be introduced 
and new regulations, which may affect the company's business. Legislation in Romania is often 
unclear, subject to different interpretations and implementations and frequent changes. Both the amendment of 
the legislation 
and legal, as well as the possible events generated by their application, may result in possible 
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fines or lawsuits brought against the company that may impact the Issuer's business. 
Litigation risk - Although the Issuer pays particular attention to compliance with all the provisions of 
legal, in the context of the conduct of its business, the Issuer is subject to the risk of litigation and other proceedings 
judicial. The Issuer may be affected by contractual or non-contractual claims, complaints, 
including counterparties in contractual relationships, customers, competitors or regulators. From 
Also, any kind of negative publicity associated with such an event can have an influence. 
At the date of this document, the Issuer is not involved in legal proceedings. 
Risk of seizure of the Issuer's accounts - seizure of accounts is a foreclosure measure that can be 
applied for a company. Thus, the Issuer's accounts may be blocked as a result of the attachment if 
creditors of the Issuer request this measure in order to recover their claims. Population of the Issuer's accounts 
entails the blocking of the amounts in the accounts seized and may lead to the hindering or impossibility of the 
company 
to honour subsequent obligations on agreed terms. 
Reputational risk - is a risk inherent to the Issuer's business, reputation being particularly important in 
the business environment, especially if the company wants to expand its activity to other markets. The ability to 
expand its portfolio in order to develop its business depends on the recognition of the Issuer's brand and the 
imposition of 
products on target markets. 
Risk associated with interest rates and sources of funding - in the event of a deterioration in the economic 
environment within the 
to which the Issuer operates, the Issuer may find itself unable to take out a new loan under the conditions of 
which has previously benefited, which could lead to increased financing costs and negatively affect 
the financial situation of the Company. 
Price risk - this is the risk that the market price of products and services sold by the company will fluctuate to such 
an extent as to make existing contracts unprofitable. The company closely monitors market prices and, if necessary, 
may withdraw from contracts that risk becoming unfavourable. 
 
Personal data protection risk - as part of its activities, the company collects, stores 
and uses data that is protected by personal data protection laws. Although 
The issuer takes precautionary measures to protect customer data in accordance with legal requirements 
on the protection of privacy, especially in the context of the implementation of the General Privacy Regulation 
data (EU) 2016/79 and in Romania (as of 25 May 2018), the risks of data leakage cannot be 
completely eliminated. 
Cash-flow risk - this is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its payment obligations when due. 
Liquidity risk - includes the risk arising from the possibility of non-recovery of debts. Through the specific 
its activities, the Company shall maintain a level of receivables and payables that allows the optimal conduct of its 
business. 
activity. 
Counterparty risk - this is the risk that a third party natural or legal person does not fulfil its 
obligations under a financial instrument or under a customer contract, thereby resulting in a loss 
financial. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (mainly for 
external trade receivables) and from its financial activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, 
foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 
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Risk associated with insolvency and bankruptcy - Romanian bankruptcy and enforcement legislation does not offer 
the same 
the level of rights, remedies and projections enjoyed by creditors under legal regimes in other jurisdictions 
In particular, Romanian bankruptcy and enforcement law and practice may make it difficult to 
recovery by the Issuer of amounts related to secured and unsecured claims in the Romanian courts 
much more difficult and lengthy compared to other countries. In recent years, insolvency in Romania has 
experienced a 
unfavourable dynamics, with insolvent companies, as well as companies that reported net losses, being largely 
responsible for the worsening payment discipline in the whole economy. 
Pandemic risk - Although ignored in recent decades, this risk (especially the risk of global epidemics, 
i.e. the risk of pandemic) has relatively recently returned to public attention. Although for some companies 
can become opportunities, at least in the short term, the overall economic impact is considered to be negative. 
Thus, there are views that, depending on the nature and severity of the epidemic/pandemic, it may induce 
recessions 
lasting a quarter, or even several years. 
Other risks - Potential investors should consider that the risks outlined above are those 
most significant risks of which the company is aware at the time of writing. However, 
the risks presented in this section do not necessarily include all those risks associated with the activity 
Issuer, and the Company cannot guarantee that it encompasses all relevant risks. There may be other 
risk factors and uncertainties of which the company is not aware at the time of writing and which 
may in the future change the actual results, financial conditions, performance and achievements of the Issuer and 
may lead to a decrease in the price of the Company's shares. Investors should also undertake the necessary due 
diligence in order to make their own assessment of the suitability of the investment. 
Therefore, the decision of potential investors, whether an investment in financial instruments issued by 
issuer is appropriate, it should be taken following a careful assessment of both the risks involved and the 
other information relating to the issuer, whether or not contained in this document. 
 

7.2 General risks relating to Shares 
 
Investment Opportunity Assessment 
 
Each potential investor in Shares must determine, based on its own independent analysis and/or 
the professional recommendations that it considers appropriate in the given conditions, the appropriateness of 
the investment 
respective. 
Every potential investor should, in particular: 
a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to carry out a meaningful assessment of 
Shares, the advantages and risks of investing in Shares and the information contained in the 
Memorandum or any supplement thereto; 
(b) have access to and possess the necessary information on analytical methods and instruments 
appropriate to assess, in the context of its specific financial situation, an investment in Shares and the impact 
Shares on its overall investment portfolio; 
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c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all the risks of an investment 
in Actions; 
d) fully understand the terms of the Shares and be familiar with how any indices are evolving; and 
relevant financial markets; and 
e) be able to assess (either on their own or with the assistance of a financial advisor) possible scenarios 
on economic factors, interest rates and other factors that may affect the investment and its ability to 
bear the related risks. 
 
Tax regime 
 
Potential buyers and sellers of Shares should bear in mind that they may be required to pay 
taxes or other documented fees or commissions, in accordance with Romanian laws and practices. 
Potential investors are advised not to rely solely on the tax information contained in the 
this Memorandum, but to seek their own advice on their specific tax obligations 
applicable to the acquisition, holding or sale of Shares. Only such advisers are in a position to assess the 
the particular situation of each potential investor. This investment analysis should be 
correlated with the sections on the tax regime in this document. 
 
Legislative changes 
 
The terms of the Shares (including any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them) 
is based on the relevant laws in force at the date of this Memorandum. No assurances can be given as to 
concerns the impact of any possible court decisions or legislative changes or applications or interpretations 
official of such laws or administrative practices subsequent to the document. 
The risk of direct investment in shares 
Investors should be aware of the risk associated with a direct investment in equities, which is much more 
higher than the risk associated with an investment in government securities or investment fund shares, considering 
the volatility of equity markets and share prices. 
 
Risk associated with future share price and trading liquidity 
Share prices and trading liquidity for companies listed on the SMT depend on the number and size of 
buy and sell orders placed by investors. There can be no guarantee of the future price of 
of the Company's shares and no guarantee of their liquidity. It is not possible to guarantee that an investor 
who buys the shares will be able to sell them at any time at a satisfactory price. 
 
Market Value of Shares 
The value of the Shares depends on a number of interrelated factors including economic events, 
financial and political developments taking place in Romania or elsewhere in the world, including factors affecting 
the 
capital in general and the stock exchanges on which the Shares are traded. The price at which a holder of Shares 
will be able to sell the Shares may contain a discount from the purchase price paid by the respective 
buyer, which could be substantial. 
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8. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ISSUES  
Connections continued its trajectory of strengthening corporate governance in 2023. Both in terms of investor 
relations and internal processes, we have made significant steps forward. The VEKTOR index measured at the 
beginning of 2024 increased from 4.5 to 6.5, which represents a step forward. We aim to reach the value of at least 
9 measured for 2024.  

We have started to rebuild the internal process map and are in the process of strengthening the overall employee 
evaluation framework linked to the company's objectives, mission and values. We will have, from 2024 onwards, 
individual objectives linked up to company level, evaluations based on key results and a fully functional ESOP 
programme. 

We aim to make significant strides in 2024 to enter the mainstream market, which means, in addition to many other 
items and IFRS reporting. We will strengthen the finance department and expand financial control at project level 
by hiring specialised staff. 

9. MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 
 

Bucharest, 04 March 2024 

I confirm, to the best of my knowledge, that the financial results for the period from 01.01.2023 to 31.12.2023 give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and income and expenditure position of Connections 
Consult S.A. and that the directors' report gives a true and fair view of the material events that occurred in 2023 
and their impact on the company's financial position. 

Bogdan Florea 

President CA, Connections Consult S.A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10. ANNEXES 
 



 

 

Pa
ge

25
 

APPENDIX 1- BALANCE SHEET GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 31.12.2023 

 RON RON 
Item name 2022 2023 
      

A. FIXED ASSETS     
I. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS                      4.951.387                         5,314,622  
II. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 259.273                         428,932.74  
III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 698.357 350.3 

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL    5.909.017                                 
5,743,905  

      
B. CURRENT ASSETS     
I. STOCKS 315                    1,413,974  
II. RECEIVABLES (amounts to be collected after more than one 
year must be shown separately for each item)            15.216.527                       21,605,593  

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS                              -  0 
IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS              8.274.059                       39,242,304  
CURRENT ASSET            23.490.900      62,261,871 
C. ADVANCE EXPENDITURE              1.419.156      1,626,788 
Amounts to be repaid in up to one year 508.74 340,615 
Amounts to be taken back in more than one year 910.417 1,286,174 
      
D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO 
ONE YEAR              6.583.782      39325044.66 

      
E. NET CURRENT ASSETS / NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 16.828.630      22455478.79 
      
F. TOTAL ASSETS MINUS CURRENT LIABILITIES         23.648.064      29485557.97 
      
G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR              4.442.247      707546.72 
      
H. PROVIZIOANE 228.276 707486 
      
I. PREPAID INCOME              1.608.477      1,628,213 
      
1. Investment grants 34.881 7,698 
Amounts to be repaid in up to one year 34.881 7,698 
Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                           -    
2. Prepaid income 1.573.597      1,620,515 
Amounts to be repaid in up to one year  552.347 814,265 
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Amounts to be repaid in up to one year              1.021.250      806,250 
3. Prepaid income related to assets received by transfer from 
clients                              -    

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                              -    
Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                              -    
Negative goodwill                              -    

      
J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES     
I. CAPITAL              1.189.268      1,312,685 
1. Subscribed paid-in capital              1.189.268      1,312,685 
2. Unsubscribed capital                              -    
3. The assets of the regie                              -    

Assets of national research and development institutes                              -    

5. Other equity items                              -    

      
II. PREMIUM CAPITAL  11,400,586 11,400,586 
      
III. REVALUATION RESERVES                               -    

      
IV. RESERVE 176.41 685,778 
      
Own shares                              -  -88,308 
Gains related to equity instruments                              -    
Losses related to equity instruments -325.001 -325,001 
Reserve from translation -22   
V. REPORTED PROFIT Sold C 1.348.779      4,793,012 
V. REPORTED LOSS Sold D -  -2,628,631 
      
VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Balance C 4.288.488 0 

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Balance D                              -  12,231,955 

      
Profit sharing  122.216 -117,801 
      
EQUITY - TOTAL 17.956.291       27,264,276 
      
Public Heritage                              -    
Private wealth                              -    
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CAPITAL - TOTAL  17.956.291       27,264,276 

 
APPENDIX NO 2- PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 31.12.2023 
 

Name of indicators 2022 2023 
1. Net turnover  57,794,557 172,521,944 
Income from Services 52,748,381 117,603,289 
Income from sale of goods 5,046,176 54,918,655 

3. Income from the production of tangible and intangible fixed assets 605.402 1,075,385 

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets                                  -    
5. Income from investment property production                                   -  3,288,620 
6. Income from operating subsidies                                  -    
7. Other operating income 60.388 150,157 
of which, negative goodwill income                                  -    
of which, investment grant income  7.175   
OPERATING INCOME - TOTAL  58,460,347 177,036,106 
8. a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables  128,462 137,758 
Other material expenditure  8,087 86,199 
b) Other external expenditure (energy and water) 21,663 29,052 
c) Expenditure on goods  5,022,575 46,211,520 
Trade discounts received                                   -    
9. Staff expenditure, of which: 26,153,268 32,381,498 
a) Salaries and allowances  25,554,022 31,647,968 
b) Insurance and social protection expenditure 599,246 733,529 
10.a) Value adjustments on tangible and intangible assets  497.721 890,534 
a.1) Expenditure  497.721 890,534 
a.2) Revenue                                   -    
b) Value adjustments on current assets  13.145 610,867 
b.1) Expenditure  13.145 610,867 
b.2) Revenue                                    -    
11. Other operating expenditure                     21.477.482    
11.1 Expenditure on external benefits    20.863.120  81,130,702 
11.2. Expenses for royalties, management premises and rents 308,802 842,025.12 
11.3 Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges                                   -  348,118.04 
11.4 Expenditure on revaluation of tangible fixed assets                                   -    
11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events                                   -    
Other expenditure  305.559 707,486.00 
Refinancing interest expense recorded by deregistered entities with 
outstanding leases                                   -    
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Adjustments to provisions  -40.598   
Expenditure                          -    
Income  40.598 228,276 
OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL  53.281.806      163,517,376 
OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS:     
Profit            5.178.541      13,518,730.80 
Losing      
9. Income from participating interests                                  -    
of which, income from affiliated entities                                  -    
13. Interest income  165.33 107,527.52 
of which, income from affiliated entities                                  -    
14. Operating subsidy income for interest due                                   -    
15. Other financial income  70.001 67,778.95 
- of which, income from other fixed assets                                   -    
FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL  235.331 175,306.47 
16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial 
investments held as current assets                                   -    

Expenditure                                   -    
Income                                   -    
13. Interest expenditure  132.175 22,866.41 
of which, expenditure in relation to affiliated entities                                  -    
Other financial charges  168.512 231,460.32 
FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL  300.687 254,326.73 
FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS:                                  -    
Profit       
Losing  65.357 79,020.25 
TOTAL REVENUE                     58.695.678  177,211,412.85 
TOTAL EXPENDITURE                     53.582.494  163,771,702.31 
18. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS:                                  -    
- Profit              5.113.184      13,439,710.54 
- Losing                                   -    
19. Corporate income tax  786.407 2,175,606.99 
20. Other taxes not shown under the above items  38.289 5,562.00 
 21.  NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR:                                  -  11,258,541.56 
Losing                                   -    
Profit     

Individual Connections profit and loss account as at 31.12.2023 
 RON   RON   

 Name of indicators  2022   2023   
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1. Net turnover   41,829,811                                                           149,861,786  

Income from Services  36,769,595                                                              
94,959,513  

Income from sale of goods  5,060,216   5,046,176    
3. Income from the production of tangible and intangible fixed 
assets  281,065                                                                     

113,641  

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets                                   -                                                                     -  

5. Income from investment property production                                    -                                                                     -  

6. Income from operating subsidies                                   -                                                                     -  

7. Other operating income  53,213                                                                     
144,839  

of which, negative goodwill income                                   -                                                                     -  

of which, investment grant income   23,252                                                                        
21,864  

OPERATING INCOME - TOTAL   42,164,089                                                           150,120,265  

8. a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables   123,167                                                                     
128,077  

Other material expenditure   20,344                                                                        
69,167  

b) Other external expenditure (energy and water)  21,263                                                                        
29,052  

c) Expenditure on goods    5,022,575                                                                
46,211,520  

Trade discounts received                                    -                                    -  

9. Staff expenditure, of which:  20,806,398                                                              
21,112,040  

a) Salaries and allowances   20,351,957                                                              
20,645,954  

b) Insurance and social protection expenditure  454,441                                                                     
466,086  

10.a) Value adjustments on tangible and intangible assets   306,267                                                                     
369,314  

a.1) Expenditure   306,267                                                                     
369,314  

a.2) Revenue                                    -                                    -  

b) Value adjustments on current assets   13,145                                                                     
610,867  

b.1) Expenditure   13,145                                                                     
610,867  

b.2) Revenue                                     -                                    -  

11. Other operating expenditure   13,090,449                                                              
68,900,894  

11.1. Expenditure on external benefits   12,577,320                                                              
68,229,791  
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11.2. Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges   308,382                                                                     
333,860  

11.3 Environmental protection expenditure                                    -                                                                     -  

11.4 Expenditure on revaluation of tangible fixed assets                                    -                                                                     -  

11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events                                    -                                                                     -  

Other expenditure   204,747                                                                     
337,243  

Refinancing interest expense recorded by deregistered entities with 
outstanding leases                                    -                                    -  

Adjustments to provisions   -40,598                                                                   
(479,210) 

Expenditure   0                                                                   
(707,486) 

Income                                    40.598                                                                        
228,276  

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL   39,363,571                                                           137,910,140  

OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS:      

Profit   2,800,518                                                              
12,210,125  

Losing       

9. Income from participating interests                                          -                                                                                                              
970,413  

of which, income from affiliated entities                                          -                                                                                                              
970,413  

13. Interest income   164,415                                                                        
63,367  

of which, income from affiliated entities                                          -                                    -  

14. Operating subsidy income for interest due                                           -                                    -  

15. Other financial income   53,277                                                                        
60,319  

- of which, income from other fixed assets                                           -                                                                            -  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL   217,692                                                                 
1,094,099  

16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial 
investments held as current assets                                           -                                    -  

Expenditure                                           -                                    -  

Income                                           -                                    -  

17. Interest expenditure   132,175                                                                        
22,866  
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of which, expenditure in relation to affiliated entities                                          -                                    -  

Other financial charges   95,998                                                                     
132,826  

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL   228,173                                                                     
155,692  

FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS:                                          -                                    -  

Profit                                                                           
938,406  

Losing   10,841   

TOTAL REVENUE   42,381,781                                                           151,214,364  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE   39,591,744                                                           138,065,833  

18. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS:                                          -                                    -  

- Profit   2,790,037                                                              
13,148,531  

- Losing                                           -                                    -  

19. Corporate income tax   345,710                                                                 
1,821,719  

20. Other taxes not shown under the above items                                    87.913    

 21.  NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR:                                          -                                    -  

Losing                                           -                                    -  

Profit   2,444,327                                                              
11,326,812 

 

 

Balance Sheet Individual Connections Consult SA as of December 2023 
 

 01.01.2023   31.12.2023   

I.INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS      

1.Formation expenses (ct.201-2801)  -   -  

2.Development expenditure (ct.203-2803-2903)   -   -  
3. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks, similar rights 
and assets and other intangible assets (items 205 + 208 - 2805 
- 2808 - 2905 - 2908)  1.196.167            1,076,063  

4. Commercial fund (ct.2071-2807)  -   -  
Intangible assets for exploration and evaluation of mineral 
resources (ct. 206-2806-2906)  -   -  

6. Advances (ct.4094 - 4904)  -   -  
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TOTAL (rd.01 to 06)  1.196.167            1,076,063  

II. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS          
1. Land and buildings (items 211 + 212 - 2811 - 2812 - 2911 - 
2912)  19.184                           -  
2. Technical installations and machinery (ct. 213 + 223 - 2813 - 
2913)  123.694                274,261  
3. Other plant, machinery and furniture (ct. 214 + 224 - 2814 - 
2914)  76.968                  49,701  

4. Real estate investments (ct. 215 - 2815 - 2915)  -   -  
5. Tangible assets in course of construction (ct. 231-2931)  -   -  
6.Investments in immovable property under construction (ct. 
235-2935)   -   -  
7.Tangible assets for exploration and evaluation of mineral 
resources (ct. 216-2816-2916)  -   -  

8.Biological productive assets (ct.217+227-2817-2917)   -   -  

9. Advances (ct. 4093 - 4903)  -   -  
TOTAL (rd. 08 to 16)  219.845                323,962  

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS          

1. Shares held in subsidiaries (items 261 to 2961)  1.018.545                987,295  

Loans granted to group entities (items 2671 + 2672 - 2964)  -   -  
3. Shares held in associates and jointly controlled entities (ct. 
262+263 - 2962)  -   -  
4. Loans granted to associates and jointly controlled entities 
(ct. 2673 + 2674 - 2965)  -   -  

5. Other fixed assets (ct. 265 - 2963)  -   -  
6. Other loans (ct. 2675* + 2676* + 2677 + 2678* + 2679* - 
2966* - 2968*)  693.050                           -  

TOTAL (lines 18 to 23)  1.711.595   1.711.595   

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 07 + 17 + 24)  3.127.608               987,295  

B. CURRENT ASSETS          

I. STOCKS          
1. Raw materials and consumables (ct. 301 + 302 + 303 +/- 308 
+321 + 322 + 323 + 328 + 351 + 358 + 381 +/- 388 - 391 - 392 - 
3951 - 3958 - 398)  -                    4,174  
2. Work in progress (ct. 331 + 332 + 341 +/- 348* - 393 - 3941 -
3952)  -   -  
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3. Finished products and goods (ct. 345 + 346 + 347 +/- 348* + 
354 + 356 + 357 + 361 + 326 +/-368 + 371 +327 +/- 378 - 3945 
- 3946 - 3947 - 3953 - 3954 - 3955 - 3956 - 3957 - 396 - 397 - of 
ct. 4428)  315                149,296  

4. Advances (ct. 4091- 4901)  -            1,260,504  

TOTAL (lines 26 to 29)   315            1,413,974  

II. CLAIMS       
1. Trade receivables 1) (ct. 2675* + 2676 *+ 2678* + 2679* - 
2966* - 2968* +4092 + 411 + 413 + 418 - 4902- 491)  12.814.487          12,190,029  
2. Amounts receivable from affiliated entities (ct. 451** - 
495*)  3.757.696    
3. Amounts receivable from associates and jointly controlled 
entities (ct. 453** - 495*)  -   -  
4. Other receivables (ct. 425+4282+431**+436** + 437**+ 
4382+ 441**+4424+ dct.4428**+ 
444**+445+446**+447**+4482+4582+4662+ 461 + 473** - 
496 +5187)  883.919                397,831  

5. Subscribed and unpaid capital (items 456 - 495*)   -   -  
6. Dividend receivables distributed during the financial 
year(ct. 463)  -   -  

TOTAL (rd. 31 to 35 +35a)  17.456.101          15,646,970  
III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS          

1. Shares held in affiliated entities (items 501 - 591)  -   -  
2. Other short-term investments (items 505 + 506 + 507 + of 
items 508 - 595 - 596 - 598 + 5113 + 5114)  -   -  
TOTAL (rd. 37 + 38)   -   -  
IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS (from ct. 508+ct. 5112 + 
512 + 531 + 532 + 541 + 542)  4.553.405          36,412,774  

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 30 + 36 + 39 + 40)  22.009.821          53,473,718  

C. ADVANCE EXPENDITURE (ct. 471) (rd.43+44)   2.140.305   2.140.305   
Amounts to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from 
ct. 471*)  75.471                334,515  
Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year 
(from ct. 471*)   1.509.681            1,286,174  
D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP 
TO 1 YEAR          
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1. Loans from bond issues. showing separately loans from 
convertible bond issues (items 161 + 1681 - 169)  -   -  
2. Amounts owed to credit institutions (items 1621 + 1622 + 
1624 + 1625 + 1627 + 1682 + 5191 + 5192 + 5198)  2.500.000                937,800  

3. Advances received on orders (ct. 419)  16.269                  90,783  

4. Trade payables - suppliers (ct. 401 + 404 + 408)  2.000.701          19,266,699  
5. Bills of exchange payable (ct. 403 + 405)   -   -  
6. Amounts due to group entities (ct. 1661 + 1685 + 2691 + 
451***)   -   -  
7. Amounts due to associated entities and jointly controlled 
entities (ct.1663+1686+2692+2693+453***)  250.000                650,000  
8. Other liabilities. including tax and social security liabilities  4.038.464            5,401,390  

TOTAL (rd. 45 to 52)   8.805.435          25,696,672  
E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (headings 
41+43-53-70-73-76)  13.253.101          27,896,561  
F. TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (rd. 25+44+54) 56 
55  17.890.389          31,570,054  
G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF 
MORE THAN 1 YEAR          
1. Loans from bond issues. showing separately loans from 
convertible bond issues (items 161 + 1681 - 169)  -   -  
2. Amounts owed to credit institutions (items 1621 + 1622 + 
1624 + 1625 + 1627 + 1682 + 5191 + 5192 + 5198)  -            4,062,207  
3. Advances received on orders (ct. 419)   -   -  

4. Trade payables - suppliers (ct. 401 + 404 + 408)  -   -  

5. Bills of exchange payable (ct. 403 + 405)  -   -  
6. Amounts due to group entities (ct. 1661 + 1685 + 2691 + 
451***)  -   -  
7. Amounts due to associated entities and jointly controlled 
entities (ct. 1663 + 1686 + 2692 + 2693 + 453***)  650.000                650,000  
8. Other liabilities. including tax and social security liabilities  75.440                  57,547  

TOTAL (rd.56 to 63)  725.440            4,769,753  

H. PROVIZIOANE          
1. Provisions for employee benefits (ct. 1515+1517)  228.276    

2. Provisions for taxes (ct. 1516) 67 66  -   -  
3. Other provisions (items 1511 + 1512 + 1513 + 1514 + 1518) 
68 67  -                707,486  

TOTAL (lines 65 to 67)  268.874                707,486  

I. PREPAID INCOME          
1. Investment grants (item 475) (headings 70+71)   29.562                    7,698  
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Amounts to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from 
ct. 475*)   29.562                    7,698  
Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year 
(of ct. 475*)  -   -  

2. Deferred income (ct. 472) (rd.73 + 74) 73 72  1.573.597            1,021,250  
Amounts to be reused within a period of up to one year (from 
ct. 472*)  552.347                215,000  
Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year 
(from ct. 472*)   1.021.250                806,250  
3. Prepaid income on assets received by transfer from 
customers (item 478)(rows 76+77)  -   -  
Sums to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from ct. 
478*)  -   -  
Amounts to be reopened within a period of more than one 
year (from ct. 478*)  -   -  
Negative goodwill (ct.2075)  -   -  

TOTAL (rd. 69 + 72 + 75 + 78)   1.603.159            1,028,948  

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES          
I. CAPITAL          

1. Paid-up subscribed capital (ct. 1012)  1.189.273            1,308,200  
2. Subscribed capital not paid up (item 1011)  -   -  

3. Assets of the Royalty (ct. 1015)   -   -  
4. Assets of national research and development institutes (Ch 
1018)   -   -  
5.Other equity items (1031)  -   -  

TOTAL (rd. 80 to 84)  1.189.273            1,308,200  
II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct. 104)  11.400.586          11,400,586  

III. REVALUATION RESERVES (Item 105)  -   -  
IV. RESERVE          

1. Legal reserves (ct. 1061)   143.839                143,839  

2. Statutory or contractual reserves (ct. 1063)   -   -  
3. Other reserves (item 1068)   -   -  

TOTAL (rd. 88 to 90)  143.839                143,839  
Own shares (ch. 109)   -   -  

Gains related to equity instruments (item 141)   -                  88,308  

Losses related to equity instruments (item 149)   325.001                325,001  
V. RETAINED PROFIT OR LOSS          

 SOLD C (ct. 117)   1.184.615            1,512,739  
SOLD D (ct. 117)   -   -  
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VI. PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR          
SOLD C (ct. 121)   2.444.327          11,326,812  

SOLD D (ct. 121)  -   -  
Distribution of profit (ch. 129)  122.216    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - TOTAL (headings 85+86+87+91-
92+93-94+95-96 +97-98-99)  15.915.423          25,278,867  

Public assets (ct. 1016)   -   -  
Private property (ct. 1017)   -   -  
CAPITAL - TOTAL (headings 100+101+102) (headings 
25+41+42-53-64-68-79)   15.915.423          25,278,867 
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CONNECTION CONSULT S.A. presents the following notes to the financial statements as at 31.12.2023: 

1. COMPANY PRESENTATION 
 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA. is a European company of innovative technology companies, founded in 2005 in Bucharest 

under Law 31/1990 and is registered at the Trade Register under number J40/11864/2005. 

The company belongs to the category of medium-sized entities as defined in the European Commission's SME Definition User 

Manual. 

These financial statements are our own and do not belong to a group. 

 

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, POLICIES AND METHODS  
 

Principles underlying the preparation of the financial statements 

 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management and have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of Romanian accounting standards, namely Accounting Law no. 82/1991, republished and Order of 
the Minister of Public Finance ("OMF") no. 1802/2014, as amended.  

 

These regulations partially transpose the provisions of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 
on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain types of undertakings 
amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directives 
78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC, published in the Official Journal of the European Union No L 182 of 29 June 2013. 

 

OMF No 1802/2014 as amended is harmonised with European Directives IV and VII and differs from International Financial 
Reporting Standards. As a result, these financial statements are not in line with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

These financial statements, prepared in accordance with OMF no. 1802/2014 as amended, must not be used by third parties 
or by users of the financial statements who are not familiar with OMF no. 1802/2014 applicable in Romania. 

 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles regulated by OMF no. 1802/2014 with 
subsequent amendments as follows: 
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1) Business continuity principle.  

2) Principle of permanence of methods.  

3) The principle of prudence. 

4) Accrual accounting principle.  

5) Principle of intangibility. 

6) The principle of separate valuation of assets and liabilities.  

7)The principle of non-compensation.  

8) Accounting for and presentation of items in the balance sheet and income statement taking into account the economic 
substance of the transaction or commitment in question (economic over legal); 

9) Valuation principle at acquisition cost or production cost.  

10) Threshold of significance principle.  

 

Business continuity 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will continue in 
normal operation for the foreseeable future without becoming unable to continue as a going concern and without a significant 
reduction in business.  

 

Comparative situations 

For each balance sheet item, profit and loss account item, and where applicable, for the statement of changes in equity and 
the cash flow statement, the amount relating to the corresponding item for the previous financial year is shown.  

 

Using estimates 

 

Statutory accounting records do not always provide sufficient information to accurately determine the adjustments and 
disclosures required, which is why estimates have been made based on the best information available. Although these 
individual estimates are subject to some degree of uncertainty, the overall effect on the financial statements is considered 
immaterial. 

Correction of accounting errors 

The correction of accounting errors is made against the retained earnings. Prior period errors are omissions or 
misstatements contained in the entity's financial statements for one or more prior periods resulting from an error in 
using or not using reliable information that: 
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- were available at the time the financial statements for those periods were approved for issue 
- could reasonably have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation and presentation of these 

financial statements.   
 

The accounting records on which these financial statements are based are made in RON ("RON") at historical cost, except for 
those situations where fair value has been used, in accordance with the Company's accounting policies and with OMF 
1802/2014 as amended. 

 
 

 

The following specific accounting policies have been applied by the Company: 

 

Tangible fixed assets 

 

(i) Cost 
 
Tangible fixed assets are initially valued at cost determined in accordance with the valuation rules of OMF. 1802/2014, 
depending on the method of entry into the unit. 

Tangible fixed assets are shown in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

 

The cost of fixed assets acquired consists of the purchase price and the value of other directly attributable costs incurred in 
transporting the assets to the current location and the cost of site development.   

 

In the context of the sale of fixed assets, the gain or loss on the sale or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference 
between the proceeds from the sale of the asset and its net book value. Realised gains or losses are recognised in the Profit 
and Loss Account. 

 

 

 

(ii) Depreciation 
 

Tangible and intangible fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the time 
they are brought into use. 

The main useful lives used for the different categories of property, plant and equipment are: 

  

• Technical installations (electronic computers and peripheral equipment): 3 years  
• Means of transport: 4-6 years 
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• Tools, devices, instruments and tool kits: 2-10 years 
• Furniture, office equipment and others: 2-11 years 
• Intangible fixed assets 8 Years or according to the duration of use 

 

  

Intangible assets 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) shall be recognised if, 
and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: 

 

a)the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it is available for use or sale; 

 

(b)its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

 

c)its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

 

d)how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the entity can demonstrate 
the existence of a market for the output generated by the intangible asset or for the intangible asset itself or, if it is expected 
to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

 

(e)the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development of the intangible asset 
and to use or sell it; 

 

(f)its ability to measure reliably the costs attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

 

Intangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the time they are put into 
service, so that the cost decreases to the estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives.  

 

Depreciation of fixed assets 
 

The Company makes provisions for impairment of fixed assets, other than deferred tax and financial assets, whenever their 
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of an asset's 
net selling price and its value in use. The value in use of an asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected from the continuing use of that asset and from its sale. 

 

Stocks 
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is estimated on the basis of the 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete and selling costs. Stocks are valued by the company on 
the basis of the purchase cost principle. 

 

Claims 

 

Receivables are valued at their estimated realisable value and, following analysis of the recoverability of certain 
receivables, insignificant provisions have been made for doubtful debts. For doubtful receivables an estimate was made 
based on an analysis of all outstanding amounts at the balance sheet date.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid assets and comprise cash in hand and cash in bank accounts. 

 

Debts 

 

Debts are recorded at historical cost in RON. The exchange rate used to convert payables into foreign currency is either that 
indicated by the customs authorities for imports, or that valid at the date of invoicing of services, or that valid at the date of the 
transaction according to the relevant regulations. 

 

At each year-end all foreign currency liabilities are revalued using the exchange rate prevailing at the year-end and posted by 
the National Bank of Romania ("NBR"). All resulting gains or losses are included in the profit and loss account. 

 

Provisions 

 

Provisions are established when there is a precise cause of an economic event and there is uncertainty as to the extent to which that 
event will materialise. The Company recognises provisions in accordance with the accounting policies in force at the date of 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 

A provision will be recognised in the accounts when the following conditions are cumulatively met:  

 

- The company has a present obligation arising from a previous event;  
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- It is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to meet this obligation;  

- A reliable estimate of the value of the obligation can be made.  

 

The company makes provisions for: - litigation, fines and penalties, indemnities, damages and other uncertain liabilities; - 
expenses related to service activity during the warranty period and other expenses related to the warranty given to 
customers.  

 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If an outflow of 
resources is no longer probable for the settlement of an obligation, the provision shall be reversed to income. 

 

 

Loans 

 

Short and long-term loans are stated at the amount outstanding at the balance sheet date.  

 

Share capital 

 

The subscribed and paid-up share capital was recorded separately in the accounts, on the basis of the legal entity's articles 
of incorporation and supporting documents on capital payments. 

 

Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and is exclusive of VAT and discounts. The Company's revenue excludes value 
added tax and comprises the value of goods sold and services rendered, as well as gains from any source, such as sales of 
fixed assets. 

 

Interest income is recognised periodically on a pro-rata basis as the income is earned, based on the accounting for accruals. 

Connections Consult S.A. recognizes the following types of income: 

 

● Recognition of operating income - services rendered, income from the production of fixed assets, other operating 
income; 

● Revenue recognition for Time and Material contracts - T&M contracts are contracts that generally involve billing 
revenue based on units of time performed (hours, days, months) at negotiated rates per unit of time. Revenue 
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relating to T&M contracts is recognised as services are rendered and the related costs are incurred, based on 
billable time, at a rate negotiated with the beneficiaries; 

● Revenue Recognition for Fixed Price Contracts - A fixed price contract is a contract where the price is usually not 
subject to adjustment due to costs incurred, does not depend on the resources used or the time allocated to the 
project. It takes into account the value of the milestones specified in the contract as occurring during the life of the 
project and until completion.  

● Revenue recognition for resold service contracts - Resold service revenue is revenue generated under contracts 
involving the subcontracting of services to third parties, legal entities, transferring partial responsibility for the 
delivery that the company charges from the end customer to the subcontractor. They are recognised at the time the 
services are performed by the party performing the services in question. 

● Revenue recognition from maintenance/recurring service contracts - Revenue generated under maintenance 
contracts is negotiated in a fixed amount over a period of time (at least one year), invoiced to customers on a 
quarterly or monthly basis and recognised monthly in the period in which the service is provided. 

● Recognition of revenue from proprietary software sales contracts - Revenue from the sale of licences for the use of 
proprietary software applications is recognised when the right to use the licence is transferred from the user to the 
customer. 

● Recognition of rental income - Revenue from royalties, rents are recognised on an accrual basis, as per the contract. 
 

Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Contributions for employees 

The company pays contributions to the State Budget for social insurance, social pension and unemployment benefit according 
to the levels established by law and in force during the year, calculated on the basis of gross salaries.  

The amount of payroll expenses is recorded in the income statement in the same period as other related company 
contributions 

 

 

Financial result 

This includes interest payable on loans, interest receivable on cash at banks and term deposits made, and exchange rate 
differences. The accrual principle is followed for the recognition of these items. 

Borrowing costs 

Interest expense is recognised in the income statement when it arises. 

Corporate tax 

Income tax is calculated on the basis of the result for the year adjusted for various non-deductible items. It is calculated using 
the corporation tax rate in force at the balance sheet date. The tax rate for 2023 and 2022 is 16%. 

Financial leasing 

Leases for tangible fixed assets in which the Company assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the estimated present value of payments. Each payment is apportioned 
between the principal and interest element to provide a constant interest rate over the repayment period.  Amounts due are 
included in short-term or long-term liabilities.  

The interest element is charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the contract. Assets held under finance leases 
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are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives. 

Transactions in foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in the accounts at the exchange rate on the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into RON at the exchange rate on the 
balance sheet date. The exchange rate at 31 December 2023 was RON 4.9746 to EUR 1. The exchange rate at 31 
December 2022 was RON 4.9474 to EUR 1. 

All differences arising from the settlement and translation of foreign currency amounts are recognised in the income statement 
in the year in which they arise. Realised and unrealised losses are expensed, including those on loans. 

 
 
 

3. FIXED ASSETS  

Change in gross value, depreciation and net book value during the financial year ending 31 December 2023: 

• Intangible assets 
 

Fixed assets Raw Values 

  
Initial 
sale 

Cresteri Discounts Sold Out 

      Total 

Of which: 
scrapping 

and breaking 
up 

(col.5 
=1+2+3) 

  1 2 3       

I. Intangible assets             

Formation expenses and development expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other real estate 1,502,029  128,448.00   0 0 1,630,477  

Advances granted for intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Intangible assets for exploration and evaluation 
of mineral resources 

            

Total 1,502,029      128,448  -           -      -  1,630,477  
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Fixed assets Initial sale Depreciation 
during the 
year 

Depreciation 
of fixed assets 
removed from 
the books 

Depreciation at the end of the year 
(Col.9 = 6+7+8) 

            Sold Out 

    
 

Total Of which: 
scrapping and 
breaking up 

 
(col.5 =1+2+3) 

  1 2 3       

I. Intangible assets             

Formation expenses and development expenses       

Other real estate    305,862        248,552               554,414  

Intangible assets for exploration and evaluation of 
mineral resources 

          

Total    305,862      248,552              554,414  

Net Book Value 1,196,167     (120,104)            1,076,063  

Internally developed software reflected in the accounts through the 208 account constitute intangible fixed assets that are 
exploited internally by our team within the framework of synergies established with strategic partners. This internal 
management is essential for optimising operational processes and for adapting the services offered in accordance with 
the specific requirements of clients, thus generating added value and significant competitive advantages for the 
organisation. 

 

• Tangible fixed assets 
Fixed assets Raw Values 

  Initial sale Cresteri Discounts Sold Out 

      Total 
Of which: 

scrapping and 
breaking up 

(col.5 =1+2+3) 

  1 2 3       

II. Tangible Fixed Assets             

Land 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Construction       711,267  0 0 0 0          711,267  

Technical installations and machines       523,286       185,387       133,417  0 0          575,256  

Other plant, machinery and furniture       331,264  39,491   0 0          370,755  

Real estate investment 0 0 0 0 0                     -  
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Tangible Assets and Exploration and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources 

0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Productive biological assets 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Tangible fixed assets in course of construction 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Real estate investments in progress 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Advances on tangible fixed assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total   1,565,817      224,878      133,417           -      -        1,657,278  

 

 

Fixed assets Initial sale Depreciation 
during the 
year 

Depreciation 
of fixed 
assets 
removed 
from the 
books 

Depreciation at the end of the year 
(Col.9 = 6+7+8) 

            Sold Out 

    
 

Total Of which: 
scrapping and 
breaking up 

 
(col.5 =1+2+3) 

II. Tangible fixed assets             

Land 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Construction    692,083  19,184 0 0 0 711,267 

Technical installations and machines    419,942  34,820 133,417 0 0 321,345 

Other plant, machinery and furniture 233,947 66,758   0 0 300,704 

Real estate investments 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Tangible assets for exploration and evaluation of 
mineral resources 

0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Biological assets production 0 0 0 0 0                     -  

Total 1,345,972      120,762      133,417           -      -        1,333,316  

Net Book Value    219,845                   323,962  
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Fixed assets are recorded at acquisition cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis with depreciation rates established 
in accordance with the provisions of Law 15 of 1994, Law no. 227/2015 and H.G. no. 2139 / 2004. 

 

Construction group includes : 

 

Office space refurbishment 

The normal operating lives of the main fixed assets used during 2023 and 2022 by the Company are : 

 

Name of fixed assets Duration (months/years)           

Office space 36-59 Months depending on contract duration    

Electronic computers and peripherals 2 -4 Years 

Means of transport for persons 4 -6 years old 

Furniture 3-4 Years 

 

 

4  STOCKS 

 

Stocks 
Balance on  

1 January 2023   
Balance at  

31 December 2023 

 
      

Consumable materials   4,174 

Marfuri  315  149.296 

Advances   1,260,504 

 

Total 315  1,413,974 

 

 

 

5  CREATING 

   As at 31.12.2023 and 2022 respectively, the Company's receivables have the following structure: 
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Law 

Sold to 
Liquidity term 

31 December 2023 

  under 1 year over 1 year 

Commercial creditor 9,383,414  9,043,131 340,283  

Supplier Advances (409) 31,180 31,180 - 

Claims with the state budget and 
social security 

344,582.00 344,582.00 - 

Other receivables (Sundry 
debtors) 

346,568 346,568 - 

Receivables from affiliated 
entities 

3,059,109.69 3,059,109.69 - 

Non-current receivables  2,775,434  2,775,434 - 

Total                       15,940,288 15,600,004.69                            340,283 

* The amount of RON 346,568 in the category "Other Receivables" includes the balance of account 473 - "Settlement of 
transactions in course of clarification". 

 

Law 

Sold to 
Liquidity term 

31 December 2022 

  under 1 year over 1 year 

Commercial creditor         12,215,727.00  
          

12,215,727.00 
    - 

Supplier Advances (409) 32,257.11 32,257.11 - 

Claims with the state 
budget and social security 

196,286.00 196,286.00 - 

Other receivables (Sundry 
debtors) 

687,632.68** 687,632.68 - 

Receivables from 
affiliated entities 

3,757,695.56 3,757,695.56 - 

Non-current receivables                    566,502              566,502  - 
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Total         17,456,100.78  
               

17,456,100.78 
    -  

 

* The amount of RON 687,632.68 in the category "Other Receivables" includes the balance of account 473 - "Settlement 
of transactions in course of clarification". 

 

 

 

6  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Sold to  

  
Sold to  

1 January 2023 31 December 2023 

        

Warehouses   746,636 

Bank accounts in lei 3.005.235    35,206,606  

Bank accounts in lei equivalent currency 1.309.493    423,760  

Cash at home 27.741    25,330  

Treasury advances 11.670    10,443  

Other values -   - 

                      
4.354.139 

                      36,412,774 
Total 
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7  DEBTS 

As at 31.12.2023 and 2022, respectively, the Company's liabilities have the following structure: 

 

Lei 

Sold to 
Due date 

31 December 

2023 Under 1 year Over 1 year 

Trade debts                      19,357,482                       19,357,482                                   -  

Debts to staff 889,278 889,278 - 

Debts to the state budget, 
bug.asig.soc.and fd.spec 

                       3,886,262                         3,886,262 - 

Other debts                        1,401,501 751,5011 650,000 

Leasing                          208,522                              150,975                           57,547  

Medium-term loan                                  -   -  - 

Short-term loan                        5,000,007                         5,000,007 -  

Total 31,393,051 30,035,504 707,547 

 

Lei 

Sold to 
Due date 

31 December 

2022 Under 1 year Over 1 year 

Trade debts         2.016.971    1.832.118   184.852,51  

Debts to staff            815.546       815.546  - 

Debts to the state budget, 
social security bug. and 
fd.spec. 

        1.551.025    1.551.025  - 

Other debts         2,555,987    1.905.987  650.000 

Leasing              91.346         15.906          75.440  

Medium-term loan                      -   -  - 
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Short-term loan         2.500.000    2.500.000  - 

Total         9.530.875  8.805.434  725.440  

 

The company has 2 leasing contracts at 31.12.2023 as shown below: 

 

Leasing 
Company 

Object 
leasing 

Date 
contract 

Price of the 
purchased good 

Advances Financed 
value 

Sold 
31.12.2022 

(without VAT) (without VAT) (without VAT) 

 TOYO 
MOTOR 
LEASING 
IFN SA 

 AUTOTURISM 05.10.2021  € 25,966.39  € 3,894.96  € 30,379.30  75.647,54 
lei 

Porsche 
Leasing 
Romania 
IFN SA  

AUTOTURISM 06.11.2023 € 44,031.93  € 18.250,00  € 25,781.93  132,732.3 
lei 

 

Loans 

 

The table below provides a summary of the loans/loans outstanding at 31 December 2023. 

 

Banking 
Product 
type* 

Destination 
facilitated 

Amount 
granted 

(incl. 
supplements

) 

Date of 
granting 

Expiry date 
 Annual 
interest 

rate 

Repaym
ent plan 

type 
Guarantees  

Used 
31.12.2023 

ProCredit 
Bank S.A. 

CREDIT 
LINE IMM 
INVEST 

WORKING 
CAPITAL 

RON 
5.000.000 

21.03.2023 13.03.2026 
ROBOR 
3M+2.5
% 

Interest 
paymen
t 

Movable 
mortgage 
balances + 
fixed assets 

5.000.000 

 

The entity holds additional contracts for bank lines of credit, from which it has not drawn the available funds, reflecting the 
absence of an immediate need for liquidity. 

 

Guarantees associated with loans: 
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The guarantees associated with the loans are highlighted in the table above. They remain in force until all the guarantor's 
obligations under the guarantee contracts have been met in full. 

 

 

8  PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 

 

As of 31.12.2023, a provision in the amount of RON 512,345 has been set up for the leave not taken by the company's 
employees up to the reporting date and a provision for penalties in the amount of RON 195,141 associated with the 
subsequent contract no. 566.1512/24.08.2023. The aforementioned balance results from the partial reversal of the 
provision set up in December 2022 in the amount of RON 228,274. Depending on the context, the provision may be revised, 
and there are significant premises for its partial or full reversal. 

 

 

 

9  CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 

 On 31.12.2023, the share capital of the Company is 1.308.199,90 RON, with a number of 13.081.199 shares and a 
nominal value of 0,1 lei/share, held in the following proportions:  

 

Physical Person:                 BOGDAN LIVIU FLOREA   67.4037% 

Legal Entities CERTINVEST MANAGEMENT 1.0053% 

Natural and legal persons:  SHAREHOLDERS LIST   31.5910% 

 

The change in the amount, structure of the share capital occurred following the issuance of new shares in scrip issue during 
2023.  

 

 
On 24 April 2023, the Extraordinary General Meeting Resolution no. 1/24.04.2023 of the company approved the 
increase of the share capital of S.C. Connections Consult S.A. by the amount of 118,927.20 lei representing 1,189,272 
new shares with a nominal value of 0.1 lei/share through the partial use of share premiums for the benefit of shareholders. 
As a result of the increase, the value of the share capital expressed in lei becomes 1,308,199.90 lei and the total number 
of shares is 13,081,999.  
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The Board of Directors started with 2024 to buy back shares to implement the plan to reward key persons in the Company 
with shares of the Company through the grant of options as detailed in the presentation material "CC - STOC" proposed 
by the Board of Directors, with the aim of incentivising performance and rewarding their loyalty. 

 

  10  OPERATING INCOME (INCL. TURNOVER) 

 

The net turnover as of 31.12.2023 is 149.861.786 RON equivalent to 30.125.394,20 Euro at the closing exchange rate of 
BNR 31 December 2023, 4.9746 RON/EUR. 

 

The operating income earned during 2023 has the following structure: 

 

Operating Income Component Dec'23  

  RON 

Sale Licenses 1,917,145 

Active ceding  1092.44 

BPO Services 19,918,252 

Internal software development services 113,641 

RPA services 1,884,645 

Software implementation services 64,581,527 

ITO Services  7,966,962 

Outsourcing Services 566,598 

Subcontract rental 41,528 

Sale of equipment 52,985,128 

Grant Income 21,864 

Other Operating Income 121,882 

Total Operating Income 150,120,265 

 

 

 

  11  PROFIT SHARING 

                                                                                                                                 -                                                                                                                                   
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Destination- RON - 2022 2023 

Profit to be distributed 2.444.326 11.343.505 

- legal reserve 122.216 117,801 

- coverage of accounting loss - - 

- dividend - - 

- other allocations own sources of financing - - 

Retained profit for the year 2.322.110 11.225.704 

 

At the end of the financial year 2023, the Company made a gross accounting profit in the amount of RON 13,148,531 , as 
the difference between total revenues of RON 151,214,365 and total expenses of RON 138,065,834. 

 

The non-deductible expenses of the company amounted to RON 3,801,760, the taxable fiscal profit was RON 13,469,013. 

 

The gross income tax calculated was RON 2,005,284 from which RON 200,528 was deducted representing the maximum 
amount allowed by tax law. Thus the resulting net income tax expense as at 31 December 2023 is RON 1,805,026. 

 

Following the calculation of the income tax as at 31 December 2023, the net profit of the Company is 11,343,505 RON 
being the undistributed amount at the balance sheet date.  

 

At the date of signing the financial statements, no distributions from the 2023 profit have been decided. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL  INDICATORS lei 
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I. LIQUIDITY INDICATORS 
   

    
Current Liquidity   2022 2023 

Current Assets 
 

             22,009,821  53,767,036 

Current Liabilities 
 

               8,805,435  30,035,504 

A/B 
 

2.50 1.79 

    
II. RISK INDICATORS 

   

    
Degree of indebtedness   2022 2023 

Borrowed capital 
 

9,530,875.20 30,743,051 

Own Capital 
 

             15,915,423  25,295,560 

A/B 
 

                       0.60  1.21 

    
Degree of Interest Coverage   2022 2023 

Profit before payment of interest and corporation tax  
 

               2,668,343  13,171,397 

Interest-related expenditure  
 

                  132,175  22,866 

A/B 
 

                         20  576 

    

    
III. ACTIVITY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

  

    
Customer Balance Turnover Speed   2022 2023 

Sold Clients 
 

               6,033,282                  5,128,441  

Net Turnover 
 

             41,829,811              149,861,786  

A/B X 365 DAYS 
 

                         53                            12  

    
Balance Rotation Speed    2022 2023 

Sold Suppliers 
 

               1,738,466                18,722,792  

Cost of Services Sold 
 

             39,404,169              137,910,140  
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A/B X 365 DAYS 
 

                         16                            50  

    
IV. PROFITABILITY INDICATORS 

   
Net Profit Rate   2022 2023 

Net Profit  
 

               2,444,326                11.343.505 

Net turnover 
 

             41,829,811              149,861,786  

A/B 
 

6% 8% 

Return on Capital Employed   2022 2023 

Profit before payment of interest and corporate income tax 
 

               2,668,343                13,189,031  

Total assets minus current liabilities 
 

             17,890,390                31,135,054  

A/B 
 

15% 42% 

 

 

I. Liquidity indicators 

Current liquidity indicator (working capital indicator), expresses how many times current liabilities are included in current 
assets 

 

The values obtained (recommended values around 2), reflect a very good capacity to cover current liabilities from current 
assets, and mainly from receivables and cash. 

 

II. Risk indicators 

 

The degree of indebtedness of the equity capital expresses how many times the borrowed capital (loans for a period longer 
than one year) is included in the equity capital and reflects the financing structure of the company at the end of the financial 
year.  

 

The interest cover indicator reflects how many times interest expenses can be covered from profit before interest and tax. 
The lower the value of the indicator, the riskier the company's position.  

 

III. Indicators of (management) performance 

The turnover speed of the receivables balance expresses the number of days until the date when debtors pay their debts to 
the company and thus shows the effectiveness of the company in collecting its debts.  
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The turnover speed of the supplier balance expresses the number of days of credit that the Company obtains from its suppliers. 

 

IV. Profitability indicators 

 

Return on capital employed is the return the Company earns on the money invested in the business. Committed capital refers 
to the money invested in the Company by shareholders and long-term creditors and includes equity and long-term debt. 

 

 

13  INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY 
BODIES 

 

At the end of 2023, the average number of employees of the Company was 214 and the actual number of employees 
existing at the end of the period was 180. 

 

On 31.12.2022 the average number of employees was 234 and the actual number of employees at the end of the period 
was 252. 

 

  

Expenditure on salaries and related contributions was as follows: 

 

Law 2022 2023 

Expenditure on staff salaries (including meal 
vouchers) 20.351.957 20.645.954 

Expenditure on insurance and social protection 454.441 466.086 

Total 20.806.398 21.112.040 

         

 In 2023, the Company granted meal vouchers in the amount of RON 443,773.  

There were no fees paid to administrators and no management services. 
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14  OTHER INFORMATION 

 

 

14.1 Related and affiliated parties 

 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.R.L presents the following turnover and balances resulting from transactions with group 
companies  

 

 

INTRAGROUP CONNECTIONS CONSULT Sales 2023 
to: 

Explanations 
SALES: 

Purchases 2023 
from : 

Explanation of 
the 

ACQUISITIONS: 

Creditor 
balance 
2023 of 

the : 

Debt 
balance 
2023 to: 

OUTSOURCING SUPPORT SERVICES S.R.L 4.229.577 -- 57.736 Monthly 
services 

2.429.701 0 

Connections Technologies 67.371 Software Rentals & 
Licenses and 

Software 
Development 

5.748.143 Software 
Implementation 

Services 

116,000 1.427.803 

BRUSCH SERVICES SRL 0.00 - 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT DOO 
BELGRADE 

0.00 -          119,927.59  

 

- 0.00 0.00 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT EOOD  0.00 -          139,363.00  

 

- 0.00 0.00 

 

 

Settlement with Associates at 31.12.2023 (account 4511) 

 

Cont          Sold 31.12.2023 



 

 

Pa
ge

92
 

  

4511 Connections Technologies 708.000,00 

4511 Connections Consult Serbia 41.376,62 

4511 Connections Consult Bulgaria -1.514,43 

4511 Connections USA 3,203 

4511 OSSR 45 

4511 Brusch 240,000 

4511 Brusch 2,068,000 

Total                     3,059,110  

 

 

14.2. Disputes 

 

The company has no pending litigation in which it is a defendant.  

 

The company is a party - plaintiff/respondent in the following cases 

1. CASE No 104/3/2022 - Bucharest Court of Appeal 
2. FILE No 815/2022 - National Board of Appeal 

  

 

Other information 

 

Rent expenses  

Expenses with rents, recorded in account 612, amounting to 837,241 lei, represent the cost of renting the premises where 
the Company has its headquarters as well as car rentals. 

 

Audit expenses  

 

In compliance with the provisions of OMFP 1802/2014 in conjunction with the AeRO Stock Exchange regulations, the company 
has entered into an audit services contract with SC Argus Audit SRL for the audit of the financial statements for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2023.  

 



 

 

Pa
ge

93
 

The company has prepared annual financial statements which comprise: 

 1. balance sheet (code 10); 

 2. profit and loss account (code 20); 

 3. notes to the annual financial statements 

4. cash flow statement  

5. statement of own capital 

  

They are accompanied by the "Information data" form (code 30) and the "Fixed assets situation" form (code 40) 

 

The contractual costs for the audit activity of the company, according to the Order of the Minister of Public Finance no. 
1802/2014, as amended for the financial year ending on 31 December 2023 derive from the audit contract no. AUD 50 
/ 09.10.2023. 

 

The company has concluded an accounting services contract with Global Accounting Profesional S.A.  

 

Taxation 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. is a tax payer, and in 2023 it obtained a gross profit of 13.148.531RON. The calculated 
income tax is RON 1,805,026 and the net profit of the Company is RON 11,343,505. 

 

The structure of the income and expenses composing the gross profit in the amount of 13.148.531 lei for the year 2023 is 
as follows: 

 

REVENUE - total, of which: 151.214.364 

     

• Operating income 150.120.265 

• Financial income 1.094.099 

 

EXPENDITURE - total, of which: 138.065.833 

  

• Operating expenses 137.910.140 
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• Financial expenses 155.692 

 

Income tax expenses = 1.805.026RON 

Net profit = 11.343.505 RON 

 

Romania's tax system is in a phase of consolidation and harmonisation with European legislation. In this respect, there are 
still different interpretations of tax legislation.  In certain situations, the tax authorities may treat certain aspects differently, 
calculating additional taxes and duties and the related interest and late payment penalties. 

 

According to the tax legislation, interest and late payment penalties are charged on late payment of tax obligations. Law 
no. 207/2015 on the Tax Procedure Code, which entered into force on 1 January 2016, provides for an interest rate of 
0.02% for each day of delay and a late payment penalty rate of 0.01% for each day of delay. These percentages applied 
throughout fiscal year 2023. 

 

In addition, the Romanian Government has a number of agencies authorized to audit (control) companies operating on 
Romanian territory. These controls are similar to tax audits in other countries, and may cover not only tax issues but also 
other legal and regulatory issues of interest to these agencies. In Romania, the tax year remains open for tax audits for 5 
years.  

The Company's management believes that the tax liabilities included in these financial statements are appropriate. 

 

Environment 

 

Romania is currently in a period of rapid harmonization of environmental legislation with current European Economic 
Community legislation. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not recorded any liabilities related to anticipated costs, 
including legal and consulting fees, studies, design and implementation of environmental remediation plans. 

 

As the Company has no assets or other assets on its balance sheet at the reporting date that expose it to a potential risk or 
need to comply with certain legal requirements emanating from environmental legislation, the Company does not consider 
the costs associated with environmental issues to be significant.  

 

Transfer price 

 

Romanian tax legislation has contained rules on transfer pricing between related persons since 2000. The current legislative 
framework defines the "market value" principle for transactions between affiliated persons, as well as the transfer pricing 
methods.  According to the relevant tax legislation, the tax valuation of a related party transaction is based on the concept 
of market price for that transaction. Based on this concept, transfer prices must be adjusted to reflect the market prices that 

http://idrept.ro/00171868.htm
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would have been established between non-affiliated entities acting independently on the basis of "arm's length conditions".As 
a result, it is expected that the tax authorities will initiate thorough transfer pricing reviews to ensure that the tax result 
and/or the customs value of imported goods are not distorted by the effect of related party pricing. It is likely that transfer 
price verifications will be carried out in the future by the tax authorities in order to determine whether these prices respect 
the "arm's length" principle and that the tax base of the Romanian taxpayer is not distorted. The company cannot quantify 
at the reporting date of the financial statements the result of such a verification. The company considers that transactions 
with related parties were carried out at market values. 

 

 

 

           16. CONTINUITY OF ACTIVITY 

Given the changes in the structure of the main contributors to turnover in 2023, namely the increase in the share of revenue 
from software implementation to the detriment of Service Delivery and the focus on large-scale projects whose main 
beneficiaries are state institutions, where there are dedicated funds already allocated for contracting IT solution providers, 
the Company's management believes that there are solid elements confirming an effective initiative to avoid bottlenecks in 
business activity. 
 
In management's opinion, the matters set out in the preceding paragraphs support the view that the Company will have 
sufficient resources to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the reporting date and that it will be able 
to effectively manage potential downturns due to the economic crisis caused by external factors.  
Management agrees that the range of possible outcomes considered in reaching this conclusion does not give rise to 
significant uncertainties related to events or conditions that could cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue 
as a going concern. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 



CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. 
SITUATIA FLUXURILOR DE NUMERAR 

PENTRU EXERCITIUL FINANCIAR INCHEIAT LA 31 DECEMBRIE 2022 
 (toate sumele sunt exprimate in RON, daca nu este specificat altfel) 

 
 

SITUATII FINANCIARE LA 31 DECEMBRIE 2023 
 

  Exercitiul 
financiar    

 
  curent 2023  

 1)Fluxuri de numerar din activitatea de exploatare 
          

-    
        32,596,246  

Rezultat net inainte de impozitare             13,148,531  
Eliminarea veniturilor si cheltuielilor nemonetare:  

  
Cheltuieli cu amortizarile                   369,314  
Cheltuieli cu provizioane                   960,613  
Venit din provizioane                (228,276) 
Variatie din subventii, vanzarea/casarea de mijloace fixe - (impact net)                     (1,092) 
Venituri din dobanzi                   (63,367) 
Cheltuieli cu dobanzile                   (22,866) 
Cheltuieli din dif de curs                   140,644  
Venituri  din dif curs                   (60,419) 
Modificarile capitalului circulant 

  
Variatia stocurilor             (1,413,659) 
Variatia clientilor si a altor creante din exploatare               2,659,820  
Variatia furnizorilor si a altor datorii de exploatare             18,215,132  
Plati privind impozitul pe profit             (1,108,128) 

2)Fluxuri de numerar  din activitatea de investitii 
          

-    
        (1,755,567) 

Achizitia de imob necorporale              (14,807) 

Achizitii de mijloace fixe             (224,878) 

Achizitia de imob financiare          (1,515,882)  

  

3)Fluxuri de numerar din act de finantare 
          

-    
         1,018,690  

Variatia Imprumuturilor bancare           2,500,007  

Variatie leasing             (117,176) 

Incasari dobanzi               63,367  

Plati de dobanzi              (22,866) 

Dividende platite          (2,375,055) 

Dividende incasate              970,413  

Flux de numerar total           31,859,369  
 

  
Trezoreria de la inceputul  exercitiului               4,553,405  
Trezoreria la sfarsitul exercitiului             36,412,774   

  
Impact net          31,859,370   

  
 

  
Semnatura si stampila  

  

 







 
SC CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. 

1 
 

 
Data:  11.03.2024 
 
 

 RAPORTUL CONSILIULUI DE ADMINISTRATIE CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. 
 

 
CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A., societate comercială înfiinţată în baza Legii 31/1990, a fost 

înregistrată la Registrul Comerţului cu nr. J40/11864/2005. 

 Obiectul de activitate principal al Societatii, din care aceasta a obtinut venituri, il constituie 
“Activități de consultanță în tehnologia informației”- cod CAEN 6202. 

Societatea comercială CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA a întocmit bilanţul la 31.12.2023 în 
conformitate cu OMFP 1802/2014. 

Conducerea Societatii pe parcursul anului 2023 a fost asigurata de Consiliul de Administrație 
(“CA”) formată din 3 (trei) membrii avându-l ca președinte pe domnul Bogdan Liviu Florea. 

Situatia comparativă a activelor, datoriilor si a capitalurilor proprii la data de 31.12.2023 în 
raport cu perioada anterioară se prezinta astfel: 

Lei 

 2022 2023 
ACTIVE IMOBILIZATE       3,127,607 2,387,320 
STOCURI                   315                 1,413,974 
CREANTE     12,814,487 15,940,288 

INVESTITII PE TERMEN SCURT 

      

CASA SI CONTURI LA BANCI 

  4.553.405 36,412,774 
CHELTUIELI IN AVANS   2,140,305 1.620.689 
DATORII CU TERMEN DE ACHITARE SUB 1 AN   8,805,464 26,623,297 
DATORII CU TERMEN DE ACHITARE PESTE 1 AN   725,440 707.547 
PROVIZIOANE   228,276 707,486 
VENITURI IN AVANS   1,603,159 1,028,948 
CAPITAL SOCIAL SUBSCRIS SI VARSAT   1,189,273 1,308,200 
PRIME DE CAPITAL   11,400,586 11,400,586 
REZERVE   143,839 261,640 
Pierderi legate de instrumentele de capitaluri 
proprii   (325,001) (325,001) 

REZULTAT REPORTAT 

  1,184,615 1,512,739 
REZULTATUL NET AL EXERCITIULUI   2,444,327 11,343,505 
REPARTIZAREA PROFITULUI   (122,216) (117,801) 
CAPITALURI-TOTAL   15,915,422 25,295,560 
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Structura veniturilor si cheltuielilor inregistrate de Societate in anul 2023, comparativ cu 
perioada precedenta, se prezinta astfel : 

 Lei                                                                                

Denumirea Indicatorilor   2022 2023 

Venit din activ de exploatare   

       
42.164.089 

        
150.120.265 

Cheltuieli din activ de exploatare   
39,363,571 

        
137.910.140  

Rezultat din activ. de exploatare   
         

2,800,517  
         

12.210.125  

Venituri financiare   
            

217,691  
1.094.099              

Cheltuieli financiare   
            

228,172  
             

 155.692 

Rezultat financiar   
             

(10,481) 
 

938.406              

Rezultatul Brut curent al 
exercitiului   

         
2,790,036  

          
13.148.531  

Venituri exceptionale   0 0 

Cheltuieli exceptionale   0 0 

Rezultatul exceptional   0 0 

Impozit pe profit/venit   
            

345,710  
             

1,805,026 

Rezultatul net al exercitiului   
         

2,444,326  
         

11,343,505 

 

 
 

Avand in vedere specificul Societatii, aceasta s-a confruntat in cursul anului 2023 cu urmatoarele 
riscuri: 

 
Riscul ratei dobanzii  

Expunerea Societatii la riscul modificarilor ratei dobanzii se refera in principal la imprumuturile 

purtatoare de dobanda pe care Societatea le are pe termen lung.  

Riscul variatiilor de curs valutar 

Societatea are tranzactii intr-o alta moneda decat moneda functionala (RON), respectiv EUR. 

Riscul de credit  

Societatea desfasoara relatii comerciale numai cu terti recunoscuti, care justifica finantarea pe 

credit. Politica Societatii este ca toti clientii care doresc sa desfasoare relatii comerciale in conditii de 

creditare fac obiectul procedurilor de verificare.  

In cadrul evidentei financiar-contabile, Societatea a respectat principiile contabile prevazute de 
Legea 82/1991 si Ordinul 1802/2014: prudenta, permanenta metodelor, continuitatea activitatii, 
principiul intangibilitatii, evaluarii separate a elementelor de activ si pasiv, principiul necompensarii, 
independenta exercitiului financiar. 

 
Posturile inscrise in bilantul contabil la 31.12.2023 corespund cu datele inregistrate in contabilitate 

si sunt puse de acord cu situatia reala a elementelor patrimoniale. 
 
Contul de profit si pierdere aferent anului 2023 reflecta fidel veniturile si cheltuielile aferente 

perioadei de raportare. 
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Societatea nu are obligatii restante fata de bugetul de stat, bugetele locale, bugetul asigurarilor 
sociale si fondurilor speciale. 

 
Evenimente ulterioare datei de inchidere a situatiilor financiare: 
 

Având în vedere schimbările în structura principalelor elemente care contribuie la Cifra de Afaceri în 

2023, în speță creșterea ponderii veniturilor din implementare software în detrimentul celor de tip 

Service Delivery și concentrarea pe proiecte de anvergura a caror principal beneficiari sunt institutii de 

stat, unde exista fonduri dedicate deja alocate pentru contractarea furnizorilor de solutii IT, 

managementul Societății consideră că există elemente solide care să confirme o inițiativă eficace în 

evitarea apariției unor blocaje în activitatea economică. 

 

In opinia conducerii, aspectele prezentate în paragrafele anterioare susțin faptul ca Societatea va 

avea resurse suficiente pentru continuarea activitatii pentru o perioada de cel puțin 12 luni de la data 

raportarii și că va reusi să gestioneze eficient potențiale sincope datorate crizei economice cauzate de 

factori externi.  

Conducerea este de acord ca paleta de rezultate posibile luate in considerare pentru ajunge la aceasta 

concluzie nu da naștere la incertitudini semnificative legate de evenimente sau conditii care ar putea 

pune la indoiala in mod semnificativ capacitatea Societatii de a-si continua activitatea in conditii 
normale de activitate. 

 

Întocmirea bilanţului s-a făcut de către Decebal Dumitrescu, Director Financiar si a fost auditat de 

catre SC Argus Audit SRL, membra ASPAAS, in baza contractului de prestari servicii nr. . AUD 50 / 

09.10.2023 

Consiliul de Administrație al Societatii propune  urmatoarele: 

1. Aprobarea situatiilor financiare anuale pentru exercitiul financiar incheiat la 31.12.2023. 

2. Repartizarea profitului în cuantum de 11,343,505 lei realizat in cursul anului 2023 in 

contul „Rezultat reportat” cu suma de 11,225,704 lei  si „Rezerve legale” cu suma de 117,801 lei. 

3. Descarcarea de gestiune a membrilor CA pentru activitatea desfasurata in exercitiul 
financiar incheiat la 31.12.2023 

 
 

 

Consiliul de Administratie:      

Bogdan Liviu Florea  Presedinte 

 

Oana Beldie   Membru 

 

Corneliu Stanciu              Membru 



 

 

Pa
ge

65
 

Annex to the Report of the Board of Directors of CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. for the financial year 2023 

Statement on Corporate Governance 

The document contains the self-assessment of the degree of compliance with the "provisions to be fulfilled" specified 
in the document "Principles of Corporate Governance for AeRO - BVB stock market" that entered into force on 
04.01.2016, as well as the measures adopted or to be adopted in order to achieve the fulfilment of all of them. 

Preamble 

The Corporate Governance Principles of the Bucharest Stock Exchange applied by CONNECTIONS CONSULT 
S.A. aim to increase the level of transparency and trust for present and future shareholders of the company and to 
create a closer link with shareholders and a greater openness towards all potential investors. 

Good corporate governance is a powerful tool to increase business competitiveness and CONNECTIONS CONSULT 
S.A. follows all these recommendations, contributing to increase efficiency for the long-term success of the company. 

Corporate Governance Compliance Table: 

 

 

SECTION PROVISIONS TO BE FULFILLED HOW TO FULFIL 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

A The role of the Board of Directors 
(Board) must be clearly defined and 
substantiated in the company's articles of 
association, by-laws and/or other similar 
documents. 

As of 30 April 2022 the issuer has a Board of 
Directors, as elected by the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of 30.04.2022.  

A.1. 

 

All companies must have internal Board 
bylaws that include the Board's terms of 
reference/responsibilities and key 
management functions of the company, 
and that apply, among other things, the 
General Principles in Section A. 

At the first meeting of the Board of Directors in 
August 2022, the Rules of Procedure of the Board 
were submitted to a vote and approved, which set 
out the responsibilities of the Board members, the 
duties and organisation of the Board's work, as 
well as the responsibility of the members for the 
work carried out.  

A.2. Provisions for the management of 
conflicts of interest should be included in 
the Council Regulation. In any event, 
Council members must notify the 
Council of any conflicts of interest that 
have arisen or may arise and refrain from 
participating in discussions (including 
by not attending, unless failure to attend 
would prevent the formation of a 

According to the approved and published rules of 
procedure of the Board, these include provisions 
for the management of conflicts of interest, 
indicating the situations giving rise to conflicts of 
interest, the conditions and time limits for Board 
members to notify the occurrence of any conflict 
of interest, their rights and obligations regarding 
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quorum) and from voting on a resolution 
on the matter giving rise to the conflict 
of interest in question. 

participation and voting in Board meetings in case 
of identification of a conflict of interest.  

A.3.  The Administrative Board or 

The Supervisory Board must 

consist of at least five members. 

The company plans to increase the composition of 
the board during 2024 and is already in 
negotiations to do so.  

A.4. Majority of Council members 

of Administration must not have 

executive function. At least one member 
of the Management Board or 
Supervisory Board must be independent 
in the case of companies in 

Standard Category. 

As of the date hereof, the Board of Directors of the 
issuer consists of 3 members, namely one 
executive member and two non-executive 
members. 

A.5. The procedure for cooperation with the 
Authorised Consultant for the period 
during which such cooperation is 
required by the Bucharest Stock 
Exchange contains all the provisions 
specified in the Corporate Governance 
Code. 

As of the date hereof, the Issuer is no longer 
subject to the legal provisions on cooperation with 
an Authorised Consultant. 

B.1. The Council will adopt a policy so i 

that any 
transaction of the company with a 
subsidiary representing 5% or more of 
the net assets of the company, 
as of the most recent financial report, be 
approved by the Board. 

The issuer is working on a document that will 
include the procedure for Board 
authorisation/approval of the company's 
transactions with a subsidiary, which transactions 
will represent 5% or more of the company's net 
assets 

B.2. The internal audit must be carried out by 
a separate organisational structure 
(internal audit department) within the 
company or through the services of an 
independent third party, which will 
report to the Board and, within the 
company, directly to the CEO. 

The company cooperates with ARGUS AUDIT 
S.R.L. 

C.1. The Company will publish in the annual 
report a section which will include the 
total income of the Board members and 

The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors was subject to a shareholder vote at the 
2022 and 2023 General Meetings and was 
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the CEO for the financial year in 
question and the total amount of all 
bonuses or any compensation 

variables and also the key assumptions 
and principles for calculating the above 
mentioned revenues. 

 

approved subject to quorum requirements. The 
resolutions of the general meetings are published 
both in the Official Gazette and on the website of 
the Bucharest Stock Exchange and on the 
company's website.  

D.1. In addition to the information required 
by law, the company's website will 
contain a section dedicated to Investor 
Relations, in both Romanian and 
English, with all the information 

of interest to investors, including: 

D.1.1. The main rules of the company, in 
particular the memorandum of 
association and the internal rules of the 
statutory bodies 

D.1.2. CVs of members of statutory 
bodies 

D.1.3. Current reports and periodic 
reports 

D.1.4. Information on general meetings 
of shareholders: agenda and materials 

related; resolutions of general meetings 

D.1.5. Information on corporate events 
such as dividend payments or other 
events that result in a shareholder's rights 
being obtained or limited, 

including deadlines and principles of 
such operations 

D.1.6 Other information of an 
extraordinary nature that should be made 
public: cancellation/ modification/ 
initiation of cooperation with a 

The issuer has complied with the attached 
requirement, there is a section on the company's 
website dedicated to investor relations and all the 
data and elements set out in item. D.1.1. to D.1.6. 
With regard to the requirement of D.1.7. the 
company is considering the appropriateness of 
including this position in the organizational chart. 
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Authorised Consultant; 
signing/renewal/termination of an 
agreement with a Market Maker 

D.1.7. The company must have an 
Investor Relations function and include 
in the Investor Relations section of the 
company's website the name and contact 
details of a person who is able to provide 
the relevant information on request. 

D.2.  A company must have an adopted 
corporate dividend policy, as a set of 
guidelines for the distribution of net 
profits, which the company declares it 
will follow. Principles 

the dividend policy must be published on 
the company's website. 

The company has drawn up a dividend policy, 
which has been approved by the Board of 
Directors. The dividend policy has been published 
on the Company's website.  

D.3. A company must have a policy in place 
regarding forecasts and whether or not 
they will be provided. Forecasts are the 
quantified conclusions of studies aimed 
at 

determining the total impact of a list of 
factors relating to a future period (so-
called assumptions). The policy should 
state the frequency, time period 
considered and content 

forecasts. Forecasts, if published, will be 
part of annual, half-yearly or quarterly 
reports. The forecast policy must be 
published on the 

society. 

The company will consider preparing 

a forecasting policy, depending on 

the economic context in which they operate. The 
company will also consider the appropriateness of 
publishing such a forecast. 

D.4.  A company must fix the date and place 
of a general meeting in such a way as to 
allow as many shareholders as possible 
to attend. 

The company plans to organise future general 
meetings online.  

D.5. Financial reports will include 
information in both English and 
Romanian on the main factors 
influencing changes in sales, operating 

The company meets this requirement, with 
financial reports including information in both 
Romanian and English.  
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profit, net profit or any other relevant 
financial indicator. 

D.6.  The company will hold at least one 
meeting/conference call with analysts 
and investors each year. Information 
presented on these occasions will be 
published in the Investor Relations 
section of the Company's website at the 
time of the respective 
meeting/conference call. 

The company is aligned with this requirement, 
organising regular investor conferences. 

 

 

      Bogdan Liviu Florea 

                                                                Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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